# **AGREEMENT**

by and between



and



**LOCAL #1938** 

for the period

January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2023

# **Contents**

PREA	MBLE			
ARTIC	LE 1 – DEFINITIONS			
ARTIC	ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION			
2.1	Recognition			
2.2	New Classifications			
2.3	Modifications to Existing Classifications			
2.4	Inclusion/Exclusion of Classifications			
2.5	Unit Clarification			
ARTIC	LE 3 – UNION SECURITY	11		
3.1.				
3.2	Indemnification			
3.3	Employee Roster/Union Officer List			
3.4	Non-discrimination			
ARTIC	LE 4 – UNION / CITY RELATIONS			
4.1	Union Access	12		
4.2	Facility & Equipment Use			
4.3	Employee Representatives	12		
4.4	Orientation	12		
4.5	Bulletin Boards	13		
4.6	Contract Access	13		
4.7	Negotiations Release Time	13		
4.8	Grievance Release Time	13		
4.9	Union Business	13		
ARTICI	LE 5 – EMPLOYMENT	14		
5.1	Probationary Periods	14		
5.2	Contractors	14		
ARTICL	LE 6 – HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME			
6.1	Workweek/Workday	14		
6.2	Standard Work Schedules			
6.3	Outside Employment	15		
6.4	Flex Time	15		
6.5	Rest & Meal Breaks	15		
6.6	Overtime	.15		

6.7	Standby	16
6.8	Callback	17
6.9	Compensatory Time	
6.10		18
6.11		18
	LE 7 – EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES	19
7.1	Nondiscrimination	
7.2	Job Posting	
7.3	Promotion	19
7.4	Transfer	
7.5	Reclassification	
7.6	Demotion	
7.7	City Policies	
7.8	Personnel Files	
7.9	Evaluations	
7.10	Discipline/Corrective Action	22
7.1	Commercial Driver's License (CDL) Training	23
7.12	Temporary Loss of Commercial Driver's License for Medical Reasons	23
ARTIC	CLE 8 – SENIORITY	
8.1	Seniority	24
8.2	Probationary Period	
8.3	Loss of Seniority	
8.4	Seniority List	
8.5	Application of Seniority	24
ARTI	CLE 9 – WAGES	
9.1	Wage Schedule	
9.2	Hire-In Rates	
ARTI	CLE 10 - OTHER COMPENSATION	
10.		
10.		
10.	3 × 1.	26
10.		26
10.	게 되는 사람들은 사용 전에 가장 없었다면 두 후 회사되었다면 가장 보는 것이다. 그는 그는 그는 그는 그를 하는 것이라면 가장 하게 되었다면 다른 것이다.	
10	6 Foreign Language Proficiency Pay	27

10.7	Tuition Reimbursement	27
10.8	Shift Differential	
ARTICLE	E 11 - HOLIDAYS	28
11.1	Holidays	
11.2	Religious Observance	
11.3	Holiday Observance	
11.4	Holiday Compensation	
ARTICLE	12 – PAID TIME OFF (PTO)	
12.1	Paid Time Off Accrual	
12.2	Paid Time Off Accrual Maximum	
12.3	Use of Paid Time Off by FLSA-exempt Employees	30
12.4	Shared Paid Time Off	
12.5	Payment of Paid Time Off Upon Separation	31
ARTICLE	13 – ON THE JOB INJURIES/KOS/L&I PREMIUM	31
13.1	Kept on Salary (KOS)	31
13.2	Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Designation	.31
13.3	Time Loss Compensation	.32
13.4	L&I Premium	.32
13.5	Temporary Modified Duty	
ARTICLE	14 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE	.32
14.1	In General	.32
14.2	Jury Duty/Court	.32
14.3	Military Leave	.32
14.4	Bereavement	.32
14.5	Seniority Adjustments	.33
14.6	Leave Without Pay	
14.7	Family Leave	
ARTICLE	15 – HEALTH AND WELFARE	.33
15.1	Insurance Benefits	
15.2	Flexible Spending Account (FSA)	.35
15.3	Social Security Replacement and Retirement	
15.4	Deferred Compensation	
	16 – LAYOFF & RECALL	35
16.1	Layoff	35

	16.2	Notification of Layoff to Union	.35
	16.3	Seniority for Purpose of Layoff	.36
	16.4	Order of Layoff	.36
	16.5	Volunteering for Layoff	.36
	16.6	Notification of Layoff to Employee	.36
	16.7	Layoff Options	.36
	16.8	Recall	.38
		Re-employment	
	16.10	Unemployment Claims	.39
A	RTICLE	17 - LABOR / MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES	.39
	17.1	Purpose of Committee	
	17.2	Composition of Committee	
	17.3	Compensation	
	17.4	Joint Labor Council	
A	RTICLE	18 - SAFETY AND SECURITY	
	18.1	Safe Workplace	40
	18.2	Safety Plan	40
	18.3	Drug Free Workplace	
	18.4	Workplace Violence	40
	18.5	Use of Electronic Monitoring Systems	40
A	RTICLE	19 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	41
	19.1	Grievance Defined	41
	19.2	Grievance Procedure	
	19.3	Schedule of Meetings	43
A	RTICLE	20 - NO STRIKE / NO LOCKOUT	43
	20.1	No Strike / No Lockout	
P	RTICLE	21 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES	43
	21.1	Management Rights and Responsibilities	43
P	ARTICLE	22 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	44
	22.1	Severability Clause	
	22.2	Conflict with Laws	
F	ARTICLE	23 – ENTIRE AGREEMENT	
	23.1	Duration Clause	
	23.2	Entire Agreement	44

SIGNATURES	45
APPENDIX A – SALARY SCHEDULE	46
APPENDIX B - Clothing and Boots	48
APPENDIX C – DEFINED CLASS SERIES	51

#### PREAMBLE

THIS AGREEMENT is made by and between the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, WASHINGTON, (hereinafter referred to as the "City") and Local #1938, Washington State Council of County and City Employees of the American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, (hereinafter referred to as the "Union").

The purpose of the City and the Union in entering into this Agreement is to set forth their entire agreement with regard to wages, hours, and working conditions so as to promote uninterrupted public service, efficient operations, and harmonious relations, giving full recognition to the rights and responsibilities of the City and the Employees.

# **ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS**

To the extent there is a conflict between the definitions contained in this Article and definitions elsewhere in this Agreement, the definition contained in those articles shall prevail. The following terms shall be defined as follows:

1.1 Accrued Leave.

Accrued leave shall include paid time off, floating holidays, management leave, and compensatory time (if applicable).

1.2 Application of Seniority.

How an employee's years of continuous service are utilized to determine his or her rights in regard to layoff, recall, overtime bidding, and scheduling of leave.

1.3 Bargaining Unit (Union).

Local #1938, Washington State Council of County and City Employees of the American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO.

1.4 Bumping.

The displacement of a less senior regular employee by another regular employee with more seniority as described in Article 16.

1.5 Business Day.

For the purpose of timelines associated with grievances, appeals and policy issues, an eight (8) hour business day, excluding weekends and observed holidays, unless otherwise specified.

1.6 Call-Back.

An employee is specifically called back to work by his or her supervisor or management representative outside of the employee's regularly scheduled hours.

1.7 City.

The City of Lakewood, Washington.

1.8 Civil Service.

In accordance with Chapter 41.12 RCW, all full-time employees of the Police Department are covered by a civil service personnel system, except for those positions that are exempt under RCW 41.12.050.

#### 1.9 Demotion.

The movement of an employee from one job classification to another job classification with a lower salary range. Demotions may be voluntary or disciplinary for cause.

#### 1.10 Employee.

A person occupying a position and paid a salary or wage by the City who is a member of the bargaining unit (as defined in Article 2.1 hereof) covered by this Agreement; but shall not include any person retained by the City under a written personal services or consultant contract or agreement.

#### 1.11 Flex Time.

An authorized alternative work schedule utilizing irregular starting or stopping times within an employee's scheduled work period.

#### 1.12 Grievance.

A claim or dispute by an employee and/or the Union with respect to the interpretation or application of the express provisions of this Agreement.

#### 1.13 Job Classifications.

A position or group of positions with duties, responsibilities, and skill levels sufficiently alike to be equitably assigned the same title, same or similar qualification requirements, the same skill level, and the same salary range. Job classifications and salary steps are listed and categorized in Appendix A of this Agreement.

# 1.14 Loudermill Rights.

The employee's right to due process in certain disciplinary matters.

#### 1.15 Paid Time Off (PTO).

A scheduled work day or accumulation of scheduled work days on which an employee may, by pre-arrangement, continue to receive the regular rate of compensation although he or she does not work.

#### 1.16 Probationary Period.

An initial period of time following commencement of employment during which the employee will work under the terms of this Agreement but may be discharged without recourse to the grievance procedure.

#### 1.17 Promotion.

When a represented employee is appointed through a competitive process to a higher paid classification.

#### 1.18 Reclassification.

A significant change in the job specification as a result of a reevaluation of the duties and responsibilities required of the position.

#### 1.19 Transfer.

The reassignment of an employee to the same classification in a different department.

1.20 Trial Service Period.

An initial period of time during which an employee who is transferred, promoted, or demoted to another position and/or classification in the bargaining unit shall be evaluated for suitability for the position, consistent with Article 7.3.

1.21 Weingarten Rights.

An employee's right to Union representation during an interview that the employee reasonably believes may lead to disciplinary action.

1.22 Written Reprimand.

A written document that describes both the problem and the needed correction, and the potential consequences if it reoccurs. A Written Reprimand shall be part of employee personnel file.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION**

2.1 Recognition

The City recognizes the Union as the exclusive collective bargaining representative for all regular employees of the City of Lakewood as noted in the classifications identified in Appendix A – Salary Schedules, and as per PERC Case # 22449-E-09-3468, Decision 10471-PECB, which states, ALL FULL-TIME AND REGULAR PART-TIME PROFESSIONAL, TECHNICAL AND CLERICAL EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, EXCLUDING SUPERVISORS, CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES AND ALL OTHER EMPLOYEES, and as subsequently amended by PERC or by mutual agreement of the parties. Temporary employees who perform similar work to regular employees for more than six months are included in the bargaining unit represented by the Union.

The following definitions apply:

- A. Regular Full-time: An employee hired for an indefinite term of employment and regularly scheduled to work forty (40) or more hours per week. Regular full-time employees shall be eligible for benefits as provided by this Agreement and/or as legally required. Seniority shall accrue from the date of hire.
- B. Regular Part-time: An employee hired for an indefinite term of employment and regularly scheduled to work twenty (20) or more hours per week but less than forty (40) hours per week. Regular part-time employees shall be eligible for pro-rated benefits as provided by this agreement and/or as legally required. Seniority shall accrue from the date of hire.
- C. Regular with End Date: An employee hired for a defined term of employment and who is anticipated to work more than one thousand and thirty-nine (1,039) hours in a twelve (12) month period. This position is eligible for the standard benefits package, prorated to match the FTE percentage.
- D. Represented Temporary: An employee hired in excess of six (6) months but not longer than twelve (12) months and regularly assigned to work a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week. Represented temporary employees shall be eligible for pro-rated benefits as provided by this Agreement beginning the first pay period following the employee's completion of six (6) months of continuous employment in a temporary position. Seniority does not accrue unless the employee is later appointed to a regular position

with no break in employment, in which case the employee shall be credited for time worked. Represented temporary employees serve "at will" and may be terminated or disciplined without recourse to the grievance procedure.

- **2.1.1 Exclusions -** The following categories of employee will be excluded from the bargaining unit:
- A. All other represented employees of the City; all department managers, supervisors, and confidential employees, consistent with PERC Decision 10471-PECB).
- B. Temporary Employees: An employee hired for a limited term of employment not to exceed six (6) months who are needed to augment the workforce during absences, peak periods, or emergent situations. Seniority does not accrue unless the employee is later appointed to a regular position with no break in employment, in which case the employee shall be credited for time worked. Temporary employees shall not be used to supplant or replace bargaining unit employees. All time constraints held herein shall be based on the position and shall not be started over should another person be placed in the same temporary position. Exceptions to this can be made upon signed mutual agreement between the parties.
- C. Seasonal Employees: An employee hired for a specific limited term of employment in a position that is seasonal in nature and who is not anticipated to work more than one thousand and thirty-nine (1,039) hours in a calendar year. This position is not eligible for benefits.
- D. Work Study & Interns: An employee who is a student or trainee and who is hired for a definite and limited term of employment not to exceed twelve (12) months and not to exceed one thousand and thirty-nine (1,039) hours worked in a calendar year, unless extended by mutual agreement. Work study and internship programs shall not be used to supplant or replace bargaining unit employees.
- E. Extra Hire: An employee hired for an indefinite term of employment and regularly scheduled to work less than twenty (20) hours per week, and not to exceed one thousand and thirty-nine (1,039) hours in a calendar year, unless extended by mutual agreement.
  - **2.1.2 Volunteers** Both the City and the Union recognize the benefit of utilizing volunteers from the local community. Volunteers shall be limited to performing tasks that are supportive of work performed by regular bargaining unit employees and shall not otherwise supplant or replace bargaining unit employees.

#### 2.2 New Classifications

When new classifications are created, they shall be included or excluded from the bargaining unit consistent with the position's duties, responsibilities, confidentiality, and general organizational structure of the particular department. The City shall notify the Local Union President and Staff Representative of newly created classifications at least ten (10) business days prior to posting or advertising to fill the position.

2.3 Modifications to Existing Classifications

When existing bargaining unit classifications are substantially modified, the City shall notify the Local Union President and Staff Representative at least ten (10) business days prior to the proposed effective date.

2.4 Inclusion/Exclusion of Classifications

It is mutually agreed that it is the intent of the parties to meet, upon request by either party, in order to include or exclude new or modified classifications in the bargaining unit consistent with the duties, responsibilities, and organizational level of the classification.

The parties agree that new classification(s) designated by the City to be within the non-represented pay plans shall be excluded from the bargaining unit, absent a request to meet within thirty (30) calendar days.

#### 2.5 Unit Clarification

Either party to this Agreement reserves the right to submit a petition for unit clarification during the term of this Agreement pursuant to PERC rules should there be a disagreement regarding the inclusion or exclusion of a position. Existing bargaining unit classifications shall remain within the bargaining unit absent mutual agreement by the parties or a decision by the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC).

# **ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY**

#### 3.1. Union Dues and Revocation

- A. Upon receipt of notice from the Union of written, electronic, or recorded voice authorization by a bargaining unit employee, the City agrees to deduct from the wages of the employee the sum certified as the initiation fee and dues each month and to forward the sum to the Union.
- B. If the City receives a request for authorization of dues deduction from an employee, the City shall forward the request to the Union.
- C. The employee's authorization remains in effect until expressly revoked by the employee in accordance with the terms and conditions of the dues authorization form.
- D. An employee's request to revoke authorization of payroll deduction must be in writing and submitted by the employee to the Union in accordance with the terms and conditions of the dues authorization form.
- E. If the City receives a request to revoke authorization of deductions from an employee, the City shall forward the request to the Union.
- F. Upon receipt of notice from the Union that the employee has revoked authorization for deduction, the City shall end the deduction no later than the second payroll after the request.
- G. The City shall remain neutral on the issue of Union membership.
- H. If an employee does not have a check due to the employee or the check is not large enough to satisfy the deduction, no deduction shall be made from the employee for that calendar month.

#### 3.2 Indemnification

The Union shall indemnify and hold the City harmless from any and all claims against the City arising out of administration of this Article, including the amounts of Union dues deducted and withheld from earnings.

# 3.3 Employee Roster/Union Officer List

Upon request, the City shall provide the Union with a roster of employees covered by this Agreement pursuant to Article 8. The roster shall include name, address, salary, classification, department, hire date, and termination date, where applicable.

The Union agrees to provide Human Resources with a list of officers and employee representatives within ten (10) calendar days of election or appointment. The City shall recognize the officers and employee representatives immediately when such list is received by Human Resources.

# 3.4 Non-discrimination

Neither party shall discriminate against any employee because of membership in or non-membership in or activity on behalf of the Union. No employee shall be discharged or discriminated against for upholding Union principles, fulfilling duties as an officer in the Union, or serving on a Union committee.

# **ARTICLE 4 - UNION / CITY RELATIONS**

#### 4.1 Union Access

The Union's authorized staff representatives shall have access during employee work hours to the City's premises where employees covered by this Agreement are working for the purpose of investigating grievances and contract compliance, after notifying the City. Access for other purposes or during other hours shall not be unreasonably denied by the City. Such visits shall not interfere with or disturb employees in the performance of their work during working hours.

# 4.2 Facility & Equipment Use

The conduct of Union business on City time and premises shall be subject to the limitations set forth in this Article and with the understanding that no Union member or officer shall use City equipment in the conduct of Union business; provided, that the Union shall be permitted to use the City e-mail system for the sole purpose of notifying Union members of meeting dates, times, and locations.

The Union shall be permitted to use designated premises of the City for Union meetings, provided it is not disruptive to operations, space is available, and meetings are held on the employee's time and not on the City's.

#### 4.3 Employee Representatives

The Union shall be entitled up to fourteen (14) employee representatives, including officers. With notice to the City the employee representatives and/or officers shall be allowed reasonable time during working hours to investigate and process grievances, as defined in Article 4.8 and 4.9. Employee representatives and officers shall attend Union meetings on their own time.

#### 4.4 Orientation

On or about the same day as new hire orientation, a Union officer or employee representative shall be permitted, for up to fifteen (15) minutes and without loss of pay, to meet with new

AFSCME CBA 2022-2023 | 12

represented employees as a group to discuss the responsibilities and benefits of Union membership. The City shall incur no costs for travel time or mileage for Union officers or employee representatives.

#### 4.5 Bulletin Boards

The City shall provide space for a bulletin board for Union use in a common area of City Hall and at one common space for each City facility where bargaining unit employees are assigned. No materials shall be posted except notices of meetings and elections; results of elections; changes in Union by-laws; notices of employee social occasions; and/or similar Union notices, letters, and memoranda. All material shall be signed by an officer of the Union. The Union shall not post any non-Union-related material on the City's premises on the bulletin board. It is the Union's responsibility to maintain its bulletin boards.

#### 4.6 Contract Access

A copy of this Agreement will be located in the Human Resource office and available for review by employees in the bargaining unit during regular City Hall business hours.

# 4.7 Negotiations Release Time

The City will make a good faith effort to provide release time for Union negotiating team members participating in contract negotiations if negotiations take place on work time, provided that coverage can be arranged.

#### 4.8 Grievance Release Time

Prior to any proposed investigation of a grievance, employee representatives or officers shall provide notice of the grievance to their supervisor and the grievant's supervisor. Grievance release time will be granted unless the employee representative, officer, or the grievant is working on something that requires immediate attention. If permission cannot be immediately granted, the City will arrange for investigation of the grievance at the earliest possible time. When it is necessary for employee representatives or officers to conduct Union business authorized by this Agreement in an area or on a shift other than their own, they shall notify the supervisor of that area or shift of their presence and of the nature of their business. No compensation shall be provided by the City for such employee representative activities outside the employee's work shift, without express preauthorization by the employee representative's department director or Human Resources.

#### 4.9 Union Business

When reasonably possible, Union representatives will notify their supervisors or department directors when participating in Union business during regular business hours. Consistent with Articles 4.3 and 4.8, employee representatives and/or officers may request and will be afforded reasonable time for the investigation of a grievance and compliance issues pursuant to this Agreement. Other Union business shall not be conducted on City time.

**4.9.1** Any concerns by the City which indicate that a Union officer or employee representative is spending an unreasonable amount of time performing Union duties shall be referred to Human Resources for discussion and resolution with the staff representative of the Union or designee.

# ARTICLE 5 - EMPLOYMENT

# 5.1 Probationary Periods

**5.1.1 Non-Civil Service** - New employees shall be subject to a six (6) month probationary period.

The City may extend the probationary period for new employees up to an additional six (6) months to a maximum of twelve (12) months. The City shall provide written notice of intent to extend a probationary period to the employee at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the probationary period's expiration. If the City fails to provide written notice of probation extension, the employee shall be deemed to have successfully completed probation.

**5.1.2 Civil Service** - New employees shall be subject to a twelve (12) month probationary period.

The City may extend the probationary period for new employees up to an additional six (6) months to a maximum of eighteen (18) months. The City shall provide written notice of intent to extend a probationary period to the employee at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the probationary period's expiration. If the City fails to provide written notice of probationary extension, the employee shall be deemed to have successfully completed probation.

#### 5.2 Contractors

The City will act in good faith to limit bargaining unit work to employees covered by this Agreement. "Contractors" who are not employees of the City will be permitted to do bargaining unit work where both the need is occasional and agreed to between the City and the Union.

5.2.1 The City and Union agree that Traffic Signal Maintenance work will hereafter be provided through contract with Pierce County. This is a non-precedent setting agreement and shall not serve as foundation for any separate future contracting which may be considered.

# ARTICLE 6 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

#### 6.1 Workweek/Workday

The City's defined work week is Monday through Sunday, beginning and ending at midnight Sunday. The standard work day shall be a regularly scheduled primary work day consisting of eight (8) consecutive hours.

#### 6.2 Standard Work Schedules

A standard full-time work schedule shall normally consist of forty (40) hours of time compensated within a five (5) consecutive day period, with shifts commencing not before 6:00 am and ending by 6:00 pm. The typical work schedule shall not include both Saturday and Sunday unless mutually agreed upon by the employee and supervisor. Employees shall not be assigned split shifts, or any shift with more than one (1) hour of unpaid time off in a single workday, without mutual consent or as permitted by Article 6.8. The City agrees to provide employees with at least

fourteen (14) days' written notice of a change to the employee's work schedule, unless mutually agreed by the employee and the supervisor. The assignment of overtime shall not be considered a schedule change and is not subject to the fourteen (14) day written notice requirement.

6.2.1 Alternative Work Schedules - An alternative work schedule (e.g., 4x10, 9x80, or other mutually agreeable option) may be approved by a department director and City Manager after an employee submits a request for alternate work schedule form. An alternate schedule will include at least two (2) consecutive days off per week. In the event an approved flexible and alternative work schedule is terminated by the City through no fault of the employee, and barring any unforeseen extenuating circumstances, the employee shall be provided with thirty (30) calendar days written notice to make personal arrangements to enable compliance with a revised schedule. The revised schedule will be effective at the beginning of the first pay cycle following the thirty (30) day notice period. In the event a flexible or alternative work schedule is terminated as a result of a disciplinary action, the change will be effective at the beginning of the next pay cycle or as defined in the disciplinary action, unless mutually agreed by the employee and the supervisor.

6.3 Outside Employment

Employees shall be permitted to maintain other employment to the extent that it does not impair the employee's ability to perform his or her normal work duties and/or responsibilities for the City, nor create a conflict of interest. An employee must submit written notification of outside employment to the department director.

#### 6.4 Flex Time

If mutually agreed upon by the employee and the employee's immediate supervisor, flex hours may be approved if the flex hours do not interfere with workload requirements. Flex hours must be approved in advance. Employees working an adjusted workday must flex their hours within the same workweek as defined in Section 6.1 and such schedule shall not result in overtime or compensatory time as identified in the Fair Labor Standards Act and WAC 296.128-500 unless specifically authorized.

#### 6.5 Rest & Meal Breaks

All employees shall receive a paid fifteen (15) minute break for each four (4) hours worked, in addition to their unpaid meal period. Employees working three (3) or more hours longer than a normal work day schedule shall be allowed at least one (1) additional thirty (30) minute unpaid meal period prior to or during the additional work period. Where the nature of the work allows employees to take intermittent rest periods equivalent to fifteen (15) minutes for each four (4) hours worked, scheduled rest breaks are not required. Missed rest breaks are not compensable as overtime. Breaks may not be collected or not taken in order to shorten the work day or work week unless specifically authorized in writing by an employee's supervisor. Such authorization shall not result in payment of overtime or compensatory time.

#### 6.6 Overtime

Employees listed in Appendix A as "overtime eligible" are entitled to overtime compensation. Overtime shall be compensated at one and one half (1 ½) times the employee's normal hourly rate of pay for all time compensated over forty (40) hours per week. Overtime shall be paid in fifteen (15) minute increments. Except in emergent/emergency situations, all overtime must be approved in advance by the employee's immediate supervisor or designee.

- **6.6.1** For purposes of computing overtime, all contractual holidays, compensatory time, and Paid Time Off (PTO) shall be considered as time compensated.
- **6.6.2 Non-pyramiding** Compensation shall not be paid or compensatory time accrued more than once for the same hours under any provision of this Article or Agreement. Overtime pay shall not be duplicated or pyramided unless required by FLSA, in which case premium or overtime pay shall be based on the employee's regular rate of pay.
- **6.6.3** Assignment of Overtime Scheduled overtime is work assigned in advance that is not part of a normal work day. Scheduled overtime time shall be offered to qualified regular full-time or regular part-time employees on a voluntary first-come, first-served basis. If there are no volunteers to work the scheduled overtime, the City will assign overtime to the least senior qualified employee on a rotational basis as follows:

An overtime list will be established. Employees will be placed on the overtime list based on their classification seniority, in ascending order within their department. The employee at the top of the overtime list will be required to work the scheduled overtime opportunity. That employee then moves to the bottom of the list. Employees on PTO when their turn comes up for scheduled overtime will be assigned the next non-voluntary opportunity after their return from PTO.

**6.6.4 Management Leave -** Employees identified in Appendix A as "overtime exempt" in accordance with WAC 296-128-500 shall be eligible for management leave.

Every employee eligible for management leave shall be awarded eight (8) hours per calendar year. Additional days may be requested by the employee utilizing a Management Leave Request Form (Appendix D) based upon work load and projects. Approval is at the discretion of the supervisor and City Manager or designee. The cumulative total of management days granted to any employee shall not exceed five (5) days annually and shall not be carried over or cashed out. Use of management leave shall follow the PTO procedure. Leave shall be based on special projects and workload.

#### 6.7 Standby

The City may establish standby rosters for those functions requiring response by overtime eligible employees outside of regular work hours. Employees will be placed on the standby roster based on their classification seniority, in descending order within the department. Based on operational needs, a department may establish a single standby roster including multiple classifications or standby rosters by classification, and may determine whether inclusion on the standby roster is mandatory or voluntary (see 6.7.1 and 6.7.2 below). Employees may trade with or give away standby shifts to other qualified employees, with appropriate advance written notice to and approval from the supervisor.

While on assigned standby status, employees are required to be unimpaired, reply to the dispatch center within fifteen (15) minutes of any call, and remain within a geographic range allowing a maximum of a ninety (90) minute arrival time to the assigned work location from the time of the initial call. Employees on assigned standby status will be issued a City cell phone, and may be issued a City vehicle or required to use a personal vehicle for response.

When an employee takes a full scheduled work day of PTO for other than pre-scheduled appointments or to rest following a significant overnight callout, the employee will not be eligible

to be on assigned standby status until the employee has returned to work and completed a full shift. The supervisor will offer the unstaffed standby opportunity to qualified employees on a voluntary first-come, first-served basis. If there are no volunteers, the supervisor will assign the standby to the next eligible employee as necessary.

Compensation for employees on assigned standby status will be pursuant to Article 10.1.

**6.7.1 Operations & Maintenance Standby** – Maintenance Workers assigned to Facilities Maintenance as of the date of contract ratification shall not be assigned to the standby roster, except by mutual consent of the employee and department director.

For the employees in Maintenance Worker classification series who have passed probation, participation in the standby roster shall be voluntary. However, if at any time there are fewer than ten (10) employees who volunteer to be on the roster, inclusion on the roster shall be mandatory based on inverse seniority until there are at least ten (10) employees on the roster.

Once a new employee in these job classifications has passed probation, the employee will be put onto the standby roster if not everyone on the roster was placed there voluntarily. The most senior employee on the roster will then have the opportunity to be removed from the roster.

**6.7.2 Requests to be on Standby Roster** - Employees in other classifications who meet the minimum qualifications of one of the classifications identified in 6.7.1 may request to be on the standby roster. Inclusion on the standby roster requires authorization by the employee's department director, and participation in training as required by the Operations Superintendent. If an employee is denied the opportunity to be on the standby roster, the employee's department director will provide a reason.

#### 6.8 Callback

An employee specifically called back to work outside the employee's regularly scheduled hours shall be paid a minimum of three (3) hours, pursuant to Article 10.2, except that an employee called back to work within one (1) hour of the beginning of the employee's regularly scheduled work day shall be compensated for one (1) hour. Except under the provisions of Section 6.10, employees who are not on standby may decline a call back opportunity without prejudice.

When an employee is on PTO, the employee will not be eligible for callback until the employee has returned to work and completed a full scheduled shift. The supervisor may offer the callback opportunity to another eligible employee as necessary. The City may waive the requirement to complete a full shift after taking PTO and before being subject to callback to address operational needs.

6.9 Compensatory Time

Overtime worked may be accrued as compensatory time as agreed in advance by the employee and supervisor. Compensatory time is accrued at the rate of one and one half  $(1 \frac{1}{2})$  times the employee's regular rate of pay.

All compensatory time shall be recorded. Employees may accrue compensatory time without limit, providing that an employee may carry over no more than sixty (60) hours of compensatory time into the next calendar year. During the first pay period of December of each year, the City will cash out any accumulated compensatory time in excess of sixty (60) hours. The employee may

exceed the sixty (60) hours of compensatory time, for a limited time, with the approval of his/her department director.

# 6.10 Declared Emergency Scheduling

The City Manager or designee has the authority to declare a City-wide emergency situation. During a major emergency or disaster of such magnitude that an extensive City response is needed (i.e., significant earthquake, volcanic eruptions, etc.) **all** employees are to report in to work as soon as possible after attending to immediate family health and safety needs. In the case of a declared City-wide emergency, the City reserves the right to assign and schedule employees to work whenever and wherever as needed and take other actions as necessary to ensure the protection of life, health, safety, and property of persons under its jurisdiction for the duration of the declared emergency.

# 6.11 Other Emergency Work Assignment/Scheduling

In order to address the operational management needs of a lesser emergency affecting only certain operations areas or a smaller portion of the City (i.e., storm, network failure, etc.), the following shall apply:

An employee's or group of employees' schedule(s) may be changed with less than the fourteen (14) days' notice required by Section 6.2, subject to terms:

- **6.11.1** For an emergency requiring 24-hour response, employees may be assigned regularly recurring shifts different from their currently assigned shift. Such emergency shifts shall not be assigned as "Split-Shifts."
- **6.11.2** The City will make a good faith effort to inform all affected employees as quickly as possible. The beginning and ending of emergency work assignments will be acknowledged via email or written notice. Such written notice is not the official method for assigning an employee to an emergency schedule, but is intended to clarify for the record when the emergency schedules were started and ended.
- **6.11.3** Employees utilizing heavy equipment will be scheduled in a manner so as to conform to state and federal occupational safety regulations.
- **6.11.4** Employees sent home by their supervisor in anticipation of an upcoming needed response shall be paid for the duration of the remainder of their regular shift.
- **6.11.5** Upon utilizing this section of the Agreement, overtime for eligible employees shall be compensated at one and one half (1 1/2) times the employee's normal hourly rate of pay for all time compensated: over eight (8) hours in a contiguous shift. All hours compensated in excess of forty (40) hours at straight time in a work week shall be compensated at one and one half (1 1/2) times the normal rate. No emergency schedule change shall result in the reduction in an employee's number of scheduled hours in a work week.
- **6.11.6** Employees assigned to a twelve (12) hour shift will receive two (2) unpaid thirty (30) minute meal periods and fifteen (15) minute paid breaks at intervals required by law.
- **6.11.7** Employees shall receive shift differential (per Section 10.8) for all hours compensated between 5:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m., subject to the non-pyramiding provisions of Section 6.6.2.

**6.11.8** Upon the determination of the City, emergency schedule assignments may be canceled, and employees shall resume their regular work schedules. Employees who have performed work within six (6) hours of their regular start time will be instructed to return to work halfway through their normal work shift. An emergency event shall not be declared and canceled multiple times within the same calendar day.

# ARTICLE 7 - EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES

#### 7.1 Nondiscrimination

The City and Union shall ensure that all terms and conditions of employment included in this Agreement shall be administered in accordance with federal or state law governing employment discrimination. Administration and application consistent with federal or state law shall not be construed to be discrimination under this Article.

The City and the Union agree to provide equal opportunity as to the provisions of this Agreement to all member employees. Neither the City nor the Union shall discriminate against any person on the basis of such person's race, sex, marital status, color, creed or religion, national origin, age, veteran status, sexual orientation, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability, in violation of any local, state, or federal law.

Wherever words denoting a specific gender are used in this Agreement, they are intended and shall be construed so as to apply equally to all genders.

#### 7.2 Job Posting

Human Resources will post available bargaining unit promotional opportunities internally for a period of no less than three (3) working days before the position is filled. Union positions will be identified as such. If internal posting is unsuccessful, City may post externally and interview any internal and external applicants simultaneously.

**7.2.1** The City shall not make direct appointments for bargaining unit positions. The transfer of an employee or the reassignment of an employee to a different position within the same classification within a department shall not be considered direct appointments.

#### 7.3 Promotion

When a new position is created or a vacancy occurs, employees who have been employed by the City for at least six (6) months are eligible to apply. An employee who applies and is not selected for a vacancy will receive notification from the hiring manager.

- **7.3.1** Employees who are selected to fill a position in a higher paid classification in the bargaining unit shall serve a trial service period for six (6) months of work or twelve (12) months of work for civil service. During the trial service period, employees promoted to a regular position may return to their former positions at their option within the first six (6) weeks. If the employee does not successfully complete the trial service period, the employee may return to their former position if vacant or be placed on the recall list if filled.
- **7.3.2** Upon promotion, the employee will be placed at the beginning of the new salary range or at the next defined pay step within the new salary range which results in a minimum of a four percent (4%) increase to the employee's current rate of pay. An

employee will be eligible for step increases annually based on the effective date of the promotion.

#### 7.4 Transfer

An employee who is given the option to transfer due to a reorganization or lay off shall not serve a trial service period. An employee who requests and is granted a transfer shall serve a trial service period.

# 7.5 Reclassification

An employee, an employee's supervisor/department director, City Manager, or Human Resources may initiate a reclassification request to the Director of Human Resources. Human Resources shall, within one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days or as otherwise mutually agreed with the Union, conduct an audit and analysis of the request which includes a portion to be completed by the employee in the affected position. Human Resources shall report to the department director and the employee the result of the findings.

Should it be determined the employee is working outside the employee's classification, the department director shall either adjust the employee's responsibilities to fall within the existing current classification or reclassify the affected employee to the newly identified classification.

- **7.5.1** An employee reclassified to a classification with a higher salary range shall be placed in the new salary range at the step that leads to at least a four percent (4%) increase over of the employee's current rate of pay (or the minimum of the new salary range if a 4% increase would be below the bottom step of the new range). Wage increases and classification seniority date as a result of a reclassification shall be retroactive to the date when the reclassification request was submitted to the Director of Human Resources. The employee's anniversary date and performance evaluation date will be adjusted to match the date when the reclassification request was submitted to the Director of Human Resources.
- **7.5.2** An employee reclassified to a classification with the same salary range shall maintain the current salary placement, performance evaluation date, and anniversary date. The classification seniority date shall be effective the date on which the reclassification was approved.
- **7.5.3** An employee reclassified to a classification with a maximum salary that is lower than the employee's current salary shall have the salary frozen until such a time as the maximum salary of the new range (excluding the Master Step) meets or exceeds the employee's current salary. At that time, the employee shall be placed at the maximum salary of the new range unless a more favorable salary placement is recommended by the department director and approved by Human Resources and the City Manager. The wage adjustment, employee anniversary date, performance evaluation date, and classification seniority date as a result of a downward reclassification shall be effective the date on which the reclassification was approved.
- **7.5.4** An Employee reclassified to a classification with a lower salary range but with a maximum salary that is higher than the employee's current salary, shall be placed in the new salary range at the nearest step to the previous salary that would not result in a reduction in wages. The wage adjustment, employee anniversary date, performance evaluation date, and classification seniority date as a result of a downward reclassification shall be effective the date on which the reclassification was approved.

#### 7.6 Demotion

When an employee is demoted, either voluntarily or for cause, to a job classification with a lower salary range where the maximum salary is higher than the employee's current salary, the employee's salary shall be frozen until the employee's annual review date. On the employee's next annual review date, the employee shall be eligible for a salary increase.

When an employee is demoted, either voluntarily or for cause, to a salary range where the maximum salary is lower than the employee's current salary, the employee shall be placed at the maximum salary unless a more favorable salary placement is recommended by the department director and approved by Human Resources and the City Manager.

If an alternative salary placement is requested and approved, the employee's salary shall be frozen until such time as the maximum salary of the new range exceeds the employee's current salary.

7.7 City Policies

Unless otherwise provided by the terms of this Agreement, the City of Lakewood Administrative, Personnel, and Safety Policies shall apply to members of this bargaining unit. Employees shall refer to City policies to resolve matters not covered by this Agreement. However, where there is a conflict between City policies and any provisions of this Agreement, the provision(s) of this Agreement shall govern.

#### 7.8 Personnel Files

Employees shall have access to their personnel file with reasonable frequency. Employees who would like to review their file should contact Human Resources to schedule a convenient time for both the requesting employee and the Human Resources Department.

The employee shall be provided by the respective supervisor, a copy of written evaluations or disciplinary actions added to their personnel file. Employees shall have the right to provide a written response to any written evaluations or disciplinary actions included in the personnel file. Upon approval of the Human Resources Department, employees may add additional documents to their personnel file including, but not limited to, certifications, degrees, and commendations.

#### 7.9 Evaluations

Employee evaluations are a useful tool to provide the employee feedback, monitor/establish goals, and determine strengths and weaknesses. If necessary, a plan for improvement, training or other support should be jointly developed by the supervisor with the employee. Evaluation may occur in two forms:

All regular employees shall be formally evaluated in writing by their immediate supervisor and/or department director or designee by the end of the probationary or trial service period and at least annually thereafter.

Additionally, evaluation of job performance may occur at any time and on an ongoing basis. Evaluation may occur in various ways and may include coaching, counseling, or written assessment.

The evaluation process may all also include a review of the current job description.

Evaluation shall not, by itself, constitute disciplinary action – disciplinary action must be specifically identified as such, in writing, consistent with Article 7.9.

The employee's supervisor will give the employee a copy of the evaluation. Employees will be required to sign the evaluation, acknowledging its receipt. The content of performance evaluations is not subject to the grievance procedure. However, employees may elect to provide a written response to the evaluation, which will be retained with the evaluation in the employee's personnel file.

# 7.10 Discipline/Corrective Action

Any discipline, demotion, or discharge of a regular employee shall be based upon just cause.

Progressive discipline and/or corrective action may include:

- oral warnings, which will be identified as such by the City and documented;
- written reprimands, which may also include work performance improvement or corrective action plan for poor work performance or misconduct;
- suspension without pay;
- · demotion; or
- discharge.

The intent of progressive discipline is to assist the employee with performance improvement or to correct misconduct. Progressive discipline shall not apply where the offense requires more serious discipline in the first instance. Both the sequencing and the steps of progressive discipline are determined on a case-by-case basis, given the nature of the problem.

Disciplinary actions shall be clearly identified as such in writing. The employee will be requested to sign the disciplinary action. The employee's signature thereon shall not be construed as admission of guilt or concurrence with the discipline, but rather shall document that the employee has seen and comprehends the gravity of the disciplinary action. Employees shall have the right to review and submit written comment on disciplinary actions in their personnel file.

A copy of the disciplinary notice shall be provided to the employee before it is placed in the personnel file. Employees who are issued a written reprimand, suspended without pay, demoted, or discharged may use the grievance procedure. If, as a result of the grievance procedure a different result is warranted, personnel records shall reflect the revised result.

The City will notify the Union in writing within three (3) working days after any notice of discharge is issued. The failure to provide such notice shall not affect such discharge but will extend the period within which the affected employee may file a grievance.

An employee who reasonably believes that an investigatory interview with a supervisor may result in discipline has the right to request the presence of a Union representative at such an interview. Upon request, the employee shall be afforded a Union representative. The City will delay the interview for a reasonable period of time in order to allow a Union representative an opportunity to attend. If a Union representative is not available or delay is not reasonable, the employee may request the presence of a bargaining unit witness. (Weingarten rights)

Employees shall also have a right to a notice and a determination meeting prior to any disciplinary action greater than a written reprimand. The City must provide a notice and statement in writing

to the employee identifying the performance violations or misconduct alleged, a finding of fact, and the reasons for the proposed action. The employee shall be given an opportunity to respond to the charges in a meeting with the City, and shall have the right to Union representation during that meeting, upon request. (Loudermill rights)

Discipline greater than an oral warning may be subject to the grievance procedure as identified in this Agreement as it relates to just cause.

7.11 Commercial Driver's License (CDL) Training

The City will provide training for up to three (3) employees (final number to be determined by the City) in the Maintenance Worker classification series to get a CDL license in exchange for a commitment to remain employed with the City for two (2) years after the license is granted. Should the employee fail to obtain the CDL license following the training, the employee shall be required to reimburse the City for the cost of the training. Should the employee leave City employment during the first year after having obtained the CDL, the employee will be required to reimburse the City for seventy-five percent (75%) of the cost of the training. Should the employee leave City employment after the first year, but prior to completion of the second year, the employee shall be required to reimburse the City for twenty-five (25%) of the cost of the training.

7.12 Temporary Loss of Commercial Driver's License for Medical Reasons

An employee required to hold a Commercial Driver's License as a minimum job qualification and whose CDL is revoked for medical reasons shall be eligible for continued employment in the same classification on a temporary basis. Such continued employment is conditioned on the City having sufficient personnel to cover CDL-related duties without an increase in overtime costs, and on the employee providing certification from a health care provider that the medical basis for revocation can reasonably be corrected within a given time period, not to exceed twelve (12) months. Employees who have been employed less than five (5) years, who were previously provided an accommodation under this agreement within the past five (5) years, who are serving under a "last chance agreement," or whose CDL was revoked for non-medical reasons or drug/alcohol use are not eligible for continued employment.

If an employee's CDL is revoked for medical reasons, the employee shall promptly notify the City. The City and employee will meet to discuss a reasonable timeframe for the employee to requalify for the CDL and associated medical card. Absent special circumstances approved by the City at its sole discretion, this timeframe shall not exceed twelve (12) months.

An employee provided an accommodation under this agreement may be reassigned to a different position and shall have the employee's pay reduced three (3) steps on the salary schedule, effective the next pay cycle after revocation of the CDL. If the employee has not advanced to Step 3 of the salary schedule, the employee shall be moved to the entry wage on the salary schedule. The employee shall retain all other rights and benefits of a regular employee. In the event an employee who had the CDL revoked due to medical reasons is able to subsequently re-qualify for the CDL and associated medical card, the employee will be placed back at the same step of the salary range the employee had at the time of revocation.

If any provision of this agreement conflicts with federal or state law governing CDLs or reasonable accommodation, then the minimum requirements of the law shall apply.

# **ARTICLE 8 - SENIORITY**

# 8.1 Seniority

Seniority shall be defined by the length of continuous employment with the City in the specific classification involved and in all higher bargaining unit classes to which the employee has been promoted.

Seniority shall be established upon appointment to a regular full-time, regular part-time, or regular with an end date position within the bargaining unit. No seniority shall be established while an employee is employed in a temporary, seasonal, work study/internship, or extra-hire position. A temporary employee who is hired into a regular position in the same classification without a break in service shall be credited for seniority from the date of hire into that classification.

Seniority shall not accrue while on a leave of absence without pay in excess of thirty (30) continuous calendar days. An employee's appointment date shall be adjusted for leaves of absence without pay except when such leaves are the result of federal or state legally protected leaves.

#### 8.2 Probationary Period

Upon successful completion of the probationary period, the City seniority of the regular employee shall be established as the recent date of hire including the probationary period.

# 8.3 Loss of Seniority

An employee will lose seniority rights by and/or upon:

- 1. Resignation
- 2. Discharge
- 3. Retirement
- 4. Layoff / Recall list of more than eighteen (18) consecutive months.
- Failure to respond to or declining one offer of recall to former or comparable employment.

Employees who are re-employed following the loss of seniority shall be deemed a newly-hired employee for all purposes under this Agreement, except as provided in the following: if an employee is laid off or resigns in good standing after working at least twelve (12) consecutive months, and is thereafter re-employed within twelve (12) months or eighteen (18) months in the event of recall, the employee will, upon successful completion of the probationary period, regain the seniority they had as of the effective date that the employee resigned.

# 8.4 Seniority List

The City shall update the seniority list and provide it to the Union annually upon request. If a layoff is announced, a current ranked seniority list including job classifications, names, job locations, and FTE or hours per week shall be provided to the Union and posted in the affected department.

# 8.5 Application of Seniority

Seniority shall apply to:

- · Layoff, Bumping and Recall, subject to Article 16
- Overtime Bidding
- · Scheduling of Leave

# ARTICLE 9 - WAGES

9.1 Wage Schedule

Effective and retroactive to January 1, 2022, the monthly salary schedule shall be increased by 5%. Employees who have left employment prior to the pay period in which the retroactive pay is processed will not be eligible for retroactive pay.

Effective January 1, 2023, the monthly salary schedule shall be increased by 5%.

- **9.1.1 Salary Plan Administration** Each classification shall have an associated salary range with identified steps. On an employee's anniversary date, employees shall automatically advance one step (2%).
- **9.1.2 Master Step Implementation** An employee shall become eligible to move from Step 10 to the Master Step on the anniversary date following the completion of all the following requirements:
  - A minimum of five calendar years of employment with the City; and
  - A minimum of five years in the same classification series.

The City is in no way prohibited from advancing employees to the master step before these requirements are met if the City believes that the employee has achieved mastery in their field.

An employee who has reached the master step will keep this step placement even if moved to a lower classification in the same classification series due to a reduction in force, voluntary demotion, or transfer.

In addition to the requirements listed above, employees in the Maintenance Worker classification must acquire and maintain either a pesticide license or class A or class B commercial driver's license to be eligible for advancement to and continued eligibility for the Master step. This requirement shall not apply to Facilities Maintenance employees.

#### 9.2 Hire-In Rates

New regular employees shall normally be placed at the minimum rate of the appropriate salary range unless approved by the City Manager for placement above the minimum based on qualifications, salary history, or other consideration.

# ARTICLE 10 - OTHER COMPENSATION

10.1 Standby Pay

An employee specifically assigned to standby status shall receive one (1) hour of additional compensation at his or her regular rate of pay for every seven (7) hour period of time assigned to standby status.

An employee assigned standby status on weekends shall be paid nine (9) hours of additional compensation at the employee's regular rate of pay for the weekend, starting at the end of the work shift Friday evening and ending at the beginning of the work shift on Monday morning.

When an employee is called back to work while on paid standby status, standby pay will continue to be paid.

Employees may elect to receive standby compensation in the form of pay or compensatory time at the straight-time (1.0x) rate, except that no employee may receive more than sixteen (16) hours of compensatory time per calendar year through this option.

#### 10.2 Call Back Pay

An employee specifically called back to work outside the employee's regularly scheduled hours shall be paid a minimum of three (3) hours. The rate of pay for the callback, whether within or in excess of the three (3) hour minimum, shall be in accordance with the FLSA and Section 6.6 (i.e., if overtime hours, paid at overtime rate). If the callback exceeds three (3) hours, the employee shall be compensated for time worked.

For the purpose of callback, if the employee is in active call back status, then time worked shall start from the time when an employee leaves his/her driveway or location at the time of the call and is en route in response to a call. Time worked shall conclude when the employee returns to his/her driveway or location at the time of the call. There shall be no additional compensation for calls taken by an employee who is already in active callback status, unless the time spent in active callback status exceeds the three (3) hours.

**10.2.1 Remote Work** - If an employee receives a work-related communication when off duty and is asked to work (e.g., troubleshoot problems) he/she will receive overtime pay at fifteen (15) minute increments, with a fifteen (15) minute minimum, regardless of the length of the response required. For communications that are received, and responses required, between 10:00 p.m. and 5:00 a.m., the employee shall receive overtime pay in thirty (30) minute increments. Remote work shall include any tasks that do not require the employee to leave home, including but not limited to telephone calls, remote access, or text messaging.

#### 10.3 Temporary Assignment Pay

Employees assigned by their designated supervisor or the City Manager to assume the preponderance of the duties of a higher level classification in a temporary capacity for at least four (4) continuous working days shall receive Temporary Assignment Pay commencing from the first day worked. Such assignments shall be in writing prior to or during the assignment. The assigned employee shall receive a five percent (5%) pay increase, or be placed at the beginning of the higher pay range, whichever is greater.

# 10.4 Mileage Reimbursement

Employees placed on standby status may be provided a city vehicle, if available.

Employees who are required to use their own vehicles for City business shall be reimbursed in accordance with current Internal Revenue Service mileage rates and rules, minus any miles between home and work, except that employees called back to work in their personal vehicles shall be compensated at the appropriate IRS rate for actual miles traveled to and from his/her driveway or location at the time of the call with a maximum of twenty (20) miles each way.

#### 10.5 Uniforms, Clothing, and Boots

The City will provide required personal protective equipment, uniforms, and clothing, and boot allowances as set forth in Appendix B.

10.5.1 Personal Protective Equipment (PPEs)

The City will supply personal protective equipment to employees for their use as required by state law and pursuant to City policy #1300-09) and as identified as such and listed in Appendix B. Employees are required to wear personal protective equipment and boots as necessary to safely perform assigned work tasks. All personal protective equipment shall remain the property of the City and shall be worn for municipal purposes only.

10.5.2. Uniforms and Clothing

Uniforms and other clothing are to be kept clean and neat in appearance as much as possible under current working conditions. Routine maintenance of uniforms and other clothing, including washing, ironing, and mending, will be the responsibility of the employee. Employees are required to comply with the model dress code if one is established for their department.

10.5.3 City Logo Items Provided by the City

City logo items purchased and/or provided by the City remain the property of the City and shall be worn for municipal purposes only. Employees are required to wear City logo items provided by the City as directed by their supervisor.

#### 10.5.4 Boot Allowances

Boot allowances shall be provided by the City no later than the first payday of February of each calendar year. No employee shall receive more than one boot allowance per calendar year.

New employees shall receive required clothing/equipment and/or boot allowances. However, an employee who receives a boot allowance and who does not pass probation will be required to reimburse the City for the boot allowance through payroll deduction from the employee's final paycheck.

10.6 Foreign Language Proficiency Pay

Employees shall receive foreign language proficiency pay of two percent (2%) added to their base pay when language skills have been confirmed by such method as the City shall reasonably determine. Employees having conversational proficiency in Cambodian, Laotian, Vietnamese, Spanish, Korean, Russian, German, American Sign Language, and any other foreign language approved by the City can qualify for this pay.

#### 10.7 Tuition Reimbursement

Tuition reimbursement may be provided at the sole discretion of the City and in accordance with City policy 800-14. Tuition reimbursement may be considered additional compensation by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and subject to taxation.

#### 10.8 Shift Differential

A shift differential of \$0.60 per hour will be paid to all regular bargaining unit employees who are assigned to work at least three (3) hours between 5:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m.

Exceptions to shift differential:

• Shifts starting between 6:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m. will not be eligible for shift differential pay.

- Work that is scheduled after 5:00 p.m. and before 8:00 a.m. on the basis of convenience to the employee, including alternative work schedules in accordance with Article 6, shall not be considered shift differential for the purpose of this provision.
- Shift differential does not apply to an occasional call out or scheduled overtime for several hours prior to the start or after the end of any given regular shift.

Shift differential shall be calculated as part of the hourly rate of pay when applying the provisions of this Agreement in other sections. Shift differential is to be paid only for the specified hours as stated above.

When an employee who usually works a differential eligible shift is temporarily assigned to a non-differential eligible shift for a period of five (5) working days or less, the employee shall continue to receive any shift differential. A temporary change in shift assignment initiated by the employee is not covered by this provision.

Work schedules may be adjusted at the City's discretion in accordance with Section 6.2.

# **ARTICLE 11 - HOLIDAYS**

#### 11.1 Holidays

The City shall provide eight (8) hours of compensation for regular full-time employees and prorated hours for regular part-time employees for the following holidays and such other days as the City Council may identify:

Holiday Observed New Year's Day January 1st Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday 3rd Monday in January President's Day 3rd Monday in February Memorial Day Last Monday in May Juneteenth June 19th Independence Day July 4th Labor Day 1st Monday in September Veteran's Day November 11th Thanksgiving Day 4th Thursday in November The Day after Thanksgiving Day 4th Friday in November Christmas Day December 25th Floating Holiday Employee's Choice

- **11.1.1** The City traditionally releases employees early, with pay, on both Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve. The City will strive to continue this practice when feasible based on work load and safety.
- **11.1.2** An employee must request the use of a Floating Holiday in advance and be granted approval by the immediate supervisor, Department Director or designee. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied. The floating holiday must be taken during the anniversary year or it will be forfeited.

11.1.3 Employees regularly assigned to an alternative work schedule (e.g.: 4/10 schedule) who would normally work more than eight (8) hours on the observed holiday may elect to use either accrued PTO, floating holiday, comp time, or leave without pay on such holidays in order to bring their hours up to their regularly scheduled number of hours for the day.

11.2 Religious Observance

Employees will be granted time off for religious observances. Such time off shall be arranged in advance with the employee's immediate supervisor. Employees may use eligible leave, leave without pay, or make alternative work schedule arrangements. Approval of leave under this provision shall be in accordance with RCW 1.16.050(3).

11.3 Holiday Observance

Any holiday that falls on a Saturday shall be observed on the preceding Friday, and any holiday that falls on a Sunday shall be observed on the following Monday.

For those employees on a 4/10 work schedule, a schedule with weekend work, or other alternate schedule, when one of the listed holidays falls on one of the employee's regularly scheduled days off, the holiday shall be observed on a day mutually agreeable to the employee and the City within the same pay period.

11.4 Holiday Compensation

Holiday compensation is defined as two and one-half (2 1/2) times the employee's regular hourly rate of pay for a maximum of eight (8) hours. Employees shall be paid no more than eight (8) hours of holiday compensation pay for working on either an actual or observed holiday, but not both, regardless of the individual's schedule that day.

There shall be no pyramiding of holiday compensation as per Article 6.6.2.

# **ARTICLE 12 - PAID TIME OFF (PTO)**

#### 12.1 Paid Time Off Accrual

PTO is a benefit granted to employees to continue normal compensation during approved absences. All full-time regular employees shall accrue PTO at the following annualized accrual rates.

During the first year	200 hours of leave per year
After the 1st year through 2 years	208 hours of leave per year
After the 2nd through 4 years	216 hours of leave per year
After the 4th through 9 years	232 hours of leave per year
After the 9th through 14 years	264 hours of leave per year
After the 14th through 20 years	296 hours of leave per year
After 20th year through 29 years	312 hours of leave per year
After 29th year	320 hours of leave per year

Any regular part-time employees shall accrue PTO leave pro-rated to match the FTE percentage and adjusted by actual hours worked.

Effective upon implementation of a consistent policy for non-represented employees, PTO accrues on a pay period basis and is not available for use during the pay period in which

it is accrued. PTO will only accrue when the employee is in paid status (working or using accrued paid leave) for at least forty (40) hours in the pay period, unless accrual is required to comply with the State paid sick leave law.

# 12.2 Paid Time Off Accrual Maximum

Any accrued and unused PTO shall be accumulated for succeeding years, except that, as of the end of the calendar year, the maximum accrual amount carried forward into the next year shall not exceed one thousand one hundred (1,100) hours.

If the employee has an accrual balance of one thousand (1,000) or more hours of PTO as of July 1st of any year, the employee's supervisor will meet with the employee to identify mutually agreeable opportunities to take leave during the remaining six (6) months of the calendar year so that the employee's PTO accrual balance will not exceed one thousand one hundred (1,100) hours as of the end of the calendar year.

# 12.3 Use of Paid Time Off by FLSA-exempt Employees

Employees shall not be eligible to use PTO in the first sixty (60) calendar days of their probationary period for any purpose other than a medical condition for which there is certification from a health care provider.

PTO must be requested and approved in advance whenever possible. When an employee needs to be absent for an unanticipated reason, the employee must follow the applicable department procedure for reporting unscheduled absences.

Abuse and misuse of unscheduled PTO are grounds for discipline. The City may investigate cases of suspected unscheduled PTO abuse or misuse, and may at any time during the course of that investigation request the employee provide certification attesting to illness, injury or other reason for leave. Except in cases of confirmed PTO abuse, employees' use of unscheduled PTO shall not be used as criteria for performance evaluation.

An employee who has been previously counseled about abuse, misuse, or excessive use of unscheduled PTO may, with the concurrence of Human Resources, be required to provide certification from a health care provider for use of unscheduled PTO. Grievances in regard to this provision may not be processed beyond Step 3 of the grievance procedure in this Agreement.

An employee must use accrued leave prior to taking any unpaid leave, except that an employee may elect to retain up to forty (40) hours of PTO (pro-rated by their FTE) for use upon return to work following an FMLA qualifying event, and may, if eligible and for qualifying events, apply for Washington Paid Family Medical Leave (PFML) benefits in lieu of using accrued PTO.

# **12.3.1** Use of Paid Time Off by FLSA-non-exempt Employees for Sick Leave - Regular FLSA-non-exempt employees shall be eligible to use paid time off for sick leave and shall be subject to the provisions required by law as set forth in City of Lakewood Personnel Policy and Procedure 800-24 Paid Sick Leave.

12.3.2 Use of Paid Time Off by FLSA-non-exempt Employees for Absences Other Than Sick Leave or Family Leave - PTO for absences other than sick leave must be requested by the employee and approved by the supervisor in advance whenever possible. When an employee needs to be absent for an unanticipated reason other than sick leave as provided in 12.3.1, the employee must follow the applicable department procedure for

reporting unscheduled absences. Such absences are subject to the approval of the City based on staffing needs.

An employee must use accrued leave prior to taking any unpaid leave, except that an employee may elect to retain up to forty (40) hours of PTO (pro-rated by their FTE) for use upon return to work following an FMLA-qualifying event, and may, if eligible and for qualifying events, apply for Washington Paid Family Medical Leave (PFML) benefits in lieu of using accrued PTO.

#### 12.4 Shared Paid Time Off

If an employee needs to take leave due to a personal or family member's serious health condition and has no accrued PTO available, the employee may request shared leave. Such requests shall be in writing and shall include documentation from a health care provider certifying the need for the leave. Shared leave requests to and donations from other employees will be coordinated by the City, and will request donations into a shared leave pool, rather than for individual employees.

Employees may donate PTO in one (1) hour increments. However, at no time shall an employee be permitted to donate PTO if such donation would cause the employee's PTO bank to fall below forty (40) hours. The forty (40) hour limit is net of pending PTO already scheduled for the employee.

Employees wishing to donate PTO must do so in writing, complying with such reasonable deadlines as necessary to ensure timely payroll processing.

Donated PTO will be used on a first in, first out basis and shall not be deducted from the employee's leave bank until the pay period for which it is needed, to avoid any need to return donated leave to the donor.

#### 12.5 Payment of Paid Time Off Upon Separation

Upon separation an employee (or deceased employee's beneficiary) shall receive payment equal to sixty-five percent (65%) of such employee's then accrued and unused PTO bank.

An employee recalled to work from layoff under the provisions of Article 16 shall be provided a PTO bank equivalent to thirty-five percent (35%) of the number of hours held prior to separation due to layoff.

# ARTICLE 13 - ON THE JOB INJURIES/KOS/L&I PREMIUM

#### 13.1 Kept on Salary (KOS)

An employee who sustains an occupational injury or illness while acting in the course of employment and qualifies for time loss through Labor & Industries (L&I) shall continue to receive the regular salary for up to two hundred (200) hours of missed work per claim (prorated for part-time employees based on FTE status).

#### 13.2 Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Designation

The City will designate FMLA for eligible employees and qualifying events, consistent with the law. The City will pay its portion of the employee's health insurance benefit while on FMLA, as required.

# 13.3 Time Loss Compensation

If the absence exceeds the Kept on Salary (KOS) hours provided in 13.1, the employee shall receive any applicable worker's compensation time-loss benefits directly from L&I. The employee shall offset any reduction in regular pay, up to a maximum of 100%, with use of the employee's eligible accrued leave, as provided in Department of Labor and Industries rules. Unless designated as FMLA leave, a minimum of forty (40) hours of leave per pay period must be used to maintain health insurance benefits.

#### 13.4 L&I Premium

Employees shall pay their portion of any industrial insurance premiums as identified by L&I.

# 13.5 Temporary Modified Duty

The City will consider temporary modified duty assignments for employees who are temporarily unable to perform their regular duties, pursuant to Personnel Policy and Procedure 1200-03 Temporary Modified Duty.

# **ARTICLE 14 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE**

#### 14.1 In General

All leaves are to be requested in writing as far in advance as possible. Denial of leave shall be in writing upon request of the employee.

#### 14.2 Jury Duty/Court

Employees subpoenaed to appear as a witness in a court proceeding as a result of their official City of Lakewood duties or directed to appear for jury service will receive pay at their regular rate of pay for work hours missed because of their required service. Employees must notify their supervisors upon receipt of a directive or subpoena for jury or witness duties, keep their supervisors apprised of the schedule for their jury or witness duties, and report to work when the court schedule permits. Any compensation paid to an employee for jury or witness service, other than reimbursement for expenses, must be paid to the City upon receipt.

An employee who is relieved of jury duty on or before the mid-point of his or her shift shall contact the employee's supervisor for return to work instructions.

# 14.3 Military Leave

All regular employees shall be allowed military leave as required by RCW 38.40.060. This provides for twenty-one (21) working days of paid military leave per year (October 1 through September 30).

#### 14.4 Bereavement

Employees who suffer a death of the employee's child (biological, step, adopted and foster), spouse, parent, grandparent, grandchild, step family member (parent, sister or brother), in-law (parent, sister or brother) or any person residing in the employee's household who qualifies as a dependent under Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations or of their registered domestic partner shall be granted up to three (3) days off with full pay for each loss. Additional leave may be granted at the discretion of the City and such additional bereavement leave shall be deducted from accrued paid time off. Bereavement leave must be taken in close proximity to and within thirty (30) days of the event unless approved by the City Manager or designee.

14.5 Seniority Adjustments

The City shall adjust the employee's anniversary date to reflect any period of unpaid leave in excess of thirty (30) continuous calendar days. Seniority shall continue to accrue and the employee's anniversary date shall not be adjusted for periods of legally protected leave, such as federal FMLA, state Paid Family Medical Leave (PFML), or military leave.

14.6 Leave Without Pay

If authorized by the City, regular employees may take up to ninety (90) continuous calendar days of leave without pay exclusive of FMLA leave. Leaves without pay of thirty (30) days or less require approval by the Department Director. Leaves without pay in excess of thirty (30) calendar days require authorization by the City Manager or designee.

**14.6.1** While on leave without pay no benefits shall accrue. The employee shall be responsible for payment of any health insurance premiums during periods of unpaid leave. Furthermore, the rules of all benefit providers shall apply.

14.7 Family Leave

The City will comply with the provisions of federal and state family medical leave laws and will administer those law pursuant to City Policy and Procedure 800-07 Family and Medical Leave Act Leave of Absence, and 800-25 Paid Family Medical Leave. The City and employee shall each pay a portion of the Paid Family Medical Leave (PFML) premium to fund benefits pursuant to RCW 50A.04.

# ARTICLE 15 - HEALTH AND WELFARE

#### 15.1 Insurance Benefits

The City agrees to provide the option of medical, dental, vision, and life insurance to all regular full-time, regular part-time, regular with an end date, represented temporary employees, and their dependents.

**15.1.1 Medical Insurance** - The medical insurance plans offered shall be AWC Healthfirst 250, Kaiser Permanente \$20 Copay, and a High Deductible Health Plan with Health Savings Account, as offered through the Association of Washington Cities Benefit Trust.

The City shall pay the equivalent of one hundred percent (100%) of the premiums for employee and dependent medical coverage of the applicable tiered rate premiums for AWC HDHP with HSA contributions for the applicable year as identified below.

Category	2020 Annual
	Contribution
Employee Only	\$3,350.00
Employee and Spouse	\$4,500.00
Employee, Spouse and I Child	\$5,750.00
Employee, Spouse and 2 or More Children	\$6,750.00
Employee and 1 Child	\$4,500.00
Employee and 2 or More Children	\$5,750.00

Refer to Personnel Policy #800-16 for additional HDHP plan information.

If a plan other than the HDHP is selected, the employee shall pay any premiums in excess of the combined cost of the tiered HDHP plan premium plus the associated HSA contributions. If premiums are less expensive, the difference of up to \$500 per year will be placed into a Flexible Spending Account (FSA) for the affected employee as allowed by IRS rules, with any additional difference paid to the employee as taxable wages.

#### 15.1.2 Plan Elimination

If a medical, dental, or vision plan offered by the City is going to be eliminated, the parties will meet and bargain new plans. If no agreement is reached in time to ensure employees' continuous insurance coverage, the City will move employees to the next available plan offering the closest available substantially similar coverage.

# 15.1.3 Medical Insurance Premiums for Part-time Employees

City premium contributions will be prorated based on FTE status for those employees who work less than full-time and are eligible for health insurance benefits pursuant to Article 2.1.

# 15.1.4 Medical Insurance Opt-out Payment

Employees eligible for health insurance benefits pursuant to Article 2.1 may opt out of medical insurances pursuant to City policy 800-13, and will receive \$300 per month in lieu of medical insurance benefits. Benefit-eligible part-time employees may opt out of medical insurance on a pro-rated basis pursuant to City policy 800-12.

#### 15.1.5 Dental and Vision

The City shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premium for full-time employee coverage and one hundred percent (100%) of the premium for full-time employee's dependent coverage for dental and vision insurance coverage. The vision plan in effect at the time of this Agreement is Vision Services Plan (VSP). The dental insurance plan in effect at the time of this Agreement is Delta Dental Plan E as offered through the Association of Washington Cities.

City premium contributions will be prorated based on FTE status for those employees who work less than full-time and are eligible for health insurance benefits pursuant to Article 2.1. Where underwriting rules do not allow for strict prorating, alternate calculations may apply with the intent to provide appropriate overall benefit percentages.

# 15.1.6 Life Insurance

The City shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premium for an employee's term life insurance coverage that has a policy value of the annual base rate of pay of the employee, rounded up to the next thousand. The employee is responsible for any taxes associated with this benefit.

#### 15.1.7 Survivor Income Life Insurance

The City agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premium for a survivor income life insurance policy, which provides a monthly benefit to an employee's eligible spouse and children upon the employee's death. The survivor income life insurance policy in effect at the time of this Agreement is Standard Insurance Company Policy 625349-A.

#### 15.1.8 Long Term Disability Insurance

The City agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the premium for long term disability policy with a ninety (90) day waiting period for each employee. The long term disability

insurance plan in effect at the time of this Agreement is Standard Insurance Company Policy 625349-B.

15.2 Flexible Spending Account (FSA)

The City shall provide an eligible IRS Section 125 Flexible Spending Account. Employees may voluntarily elect to participate in the reimbursement program to pay medical or dependent care expenses with pre-tax dollars. The City makes no contribution beyond that described in Section 15.1.1, no assurance of ongoing participation, and assumes no liability for claims or benefits.

15.3 Social Security Replacement and Retirement

The City shall provide a Social Security Replacement Account for each employee, as currently offered through Mission Square. The contribution rates shall be 4.77% for the City and 6.2% for the employee based on total wages.

The City shall provide a 401 Retirement Plan for each employee. The contribution rates shall be 7.62% for the City and 5.08% for the employee based on total wages. Should the City move to the Washington State Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) defined benefit plan, the City and employee shall pay the contribution rates established by statute in lieu of the contribution amounts listed above into the 401 Retirement Plan.

The City shall provide Medicare contributions pursuant to federal law, and the required employee contributions shall be deducted from the employees' wages.

15.4 Deferred Compensation

The City shall match the employee's contribution, by payroll deduction, to a qualified 457 deferred compensation plan in an amount up to but not to exceed three percent (3%) of the employee's base monthly pay rate.

# **ARTICLE 16 - LAYOFF & RECALL**

16.1 Layoff

A layoff is defined as the anticipated and ongoing or prolonged reduction in the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) positions, the number of part-time positions, or reduction in hours within a job classification covered by this Agreement. A reduction in force or classification may occur because of lack of funds, lack of work, efficiency or reorganization. Reductions in force are identified by classification within the affected department. Regular with end date employees (as defined in this Agreement) shall not be considered laid off at the conclusion of their project or term, and the City will not contest unemployment claims indicating termination due to lack of work. The City shall determine the position(s) within the affected department(s) to be eliminated or reduced in hours. The provisions of this Article shall determine which employee is ultimately laid off.

16.2 Notification of Layoff to Union

The Union shall be notified in writing of any reduction in hours proposed by the City, including the purpose, scope, and duration of the proposed reduction, along with an updated seniority list. The City and the Union shall meet at least one (1) week prior to the notice period identified in 16.6 below to discuss the reasons and timelines for the layoff and to review any suggestions concerning possible alternatives to layoff. Union concerns shall be considered by the City prior to implementation of layoff. The City and Union shall discuss the timeline and process for

providing notification to impacted employees. Ongoing discussions shall not preclude the City from requesting volunteers to change employment status for the purpose of cost savings or from moving forward with notifications to employees as identified below.

# 16.3 Seniority for Purpose of Layoff

Seniority for the purpose of layoff, bumping, and recall rights shall be the length of continuous service with the City in the specific classification involved and in all higher bargaining unit classes the employee has held. Employees who are transferred between departments shall carry their seniority, as defined above, from their previous department to the department to which they are transferred.

In the event of two (2) employees having the same seniority, City seniority shall be determinative. In the event of two (2) employees having the same City seniority, bargaining unit seniority shall be determinative. In the event of two (2) employees having the same bargaining unit seniority, seniority shall be determined by lot.

#### 16.4 Order of Layoff

If there are more positions identified for layoff than employees who volunteer pursuant to Article 16.5 and if there are probationary employees in the classification, the probationary employee(s) shall be laid off and shall be ineligible to select among layoff options.

No regular employees shall be subject to layoff while there are temporary, represented temporary, probationary, internship, extra help or seasonal employees serving in the same classification. When a regular employee is laid off, seniority (as defined in Section 16.2) shall determine the affected employee within the affected department.

# 16.5 Volunteering for Layoff

Prior to providing written notice to employees in positions identified for layoff pursuant to Article 16.6, the City shall seek volunteers for layoff from among those employees who work in the job classification(s) identified for reduction of positions. The request for volunteers for layoff shall be posted for five (5) business days. If there are more employees who volunteer for layoff than employees in positions to be eliminated, layoffs will occur among those employees who volunteered based on total City seniority in descending order. Employees who volunteer for layoff retain recall rights as described in Section 16.8 but are not eligible to select among layoff options. The City and Union may collaborate on an incentive program to encourage volunteers for layoff.

# 16.6 Notification of Layoff to Employee

Employees in positions identified for layoff shall be given formal written notice of layoff and a copy of the classification seniority list at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of layoff. If the City does not provide thirty (30) calendar days written notice, the City shall compensate the employee at his or her normal rate of pay and benefits for the time between the last day of work and thirty (30) calendar days from the date the employee receives the notice of layoff, in addition to any other compensation due the employee. The notice shall include identification of the applicable bumping opportunity, if any. A single thirty (30) calendar day notice is required, irrespective of the number of bumps that occur.

# 16.7 Layoff Options

Employees who have been notified of layoff and have completed their probationary period shall have the following options:

· Accept layoff and retain recall rights

- Accept an offer of placement in a vacant regular or temporary position within the same classification for which they qualify and retain recall rights
- Exercise bumping rights and retain recall rights
- Accept an offer of a reduction in hours and retain recall rights
  - 16.7.1 Accept Placement in a Vacant Position An employee may be offered placement in a vacant position within the same classification for which the employee meets the minimum qualifications or may be offered a temporary position if one is available and the employee has the ability to perform the work. An employee who accepts such an assignment in a regular or temporary position will retain recall rights. An employee who has been notified of layoff and who accepts a temporary assignment will be provided the benefits and provisions of the temporary assignment.
  - **16.7.2 Bumping Rights** An employee desiring to exercise bumping rights must do so by delivering written notice to Human Resources within five (5) working days of receipt of layoff notice.

Bumping rights may be exercised as follows:

- a. An employee shall first have the right to bump the least senior regular employee in the employee's current classification within another department in the City; except that non civil service employees shall not have the right to bump into civil service positions.
- b. If no bumping option exists under 16.7.2.a, the employee shall next have the right to bump the least senior regular employee in the next lower classification within the employee's current classification series as defined in Appendix C; then the next lower job classification within the employee's current classification series, progressively.
- c. If no bumping option exists under 16.7.2.b within the employee's current classification series, the employee shall next have the right to bump the least senior regular employee in the most recently held classification in which he/she has held status at the City of Lakewood within the last four (4) years; then the next lower job classification within the last four (4) years, progressively.
- d. If no bumping option exists under 16.7.2.c, the employee shall next have the right to bump the least senior Regular with End Date employee in a position within the employee's classification series for which the employee is qualified.

If no bumping options exist under 16.7.2.a, 16.7.2.b, 16.7.2.c, or 16.7.2.d, then the employee has no bumping rights.

In all cases involving bumping, the following provisions must apply:

- a. Employees exercising bumping rights must meet the minimum qualifications for the position as described in the job description and civil service rules, if applicable.
- Employees exercising bumping rights must have more seniority (as defined in Section 16.3) than the person being bumped.

c. Employees exercising bumping rights shall not bump into a higher classification. Regular full-time employees shall have the option of bumping full or part-time employees. Regular part-time employees may only bump part-time employees with an equal or lesser FTE status.

An employee who has exercised bumping rights shall retain the employee's current salary providing it does not exceed the maximum salary of the new range. If the employee's current salary exceeds the maximum of the new range, the employee's salary shall be reduced to the maximum of the new range. An employee bumping to another position shall retain the employee's previous anniversary date for purposes of eligibility for salary increases.

#### 16.8 Recall

An employee impacted by layoff as defined in Section 16.1 shall be entitled to recall to a position within the classification held immediately prior to the layoff for a period of eighteen (18) months from the effective date of the layoff. Recall from layoff shall be in order of seniority.

# IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF ANY LAID OFF EMPLOYEE TO PROVIDE THE CITY WITH THE EMPLOYEE'S CONTACT INFORMATION.

An employee shall be considered to have relinquished all recall rights if:

- The employee elects not to accept one (1) offer to return to work in the classification from which the employee was laid off;
- The employee fails to respond within seven (7) calendar days of the offer of recall.

If an employee elects not to accept an offer of recall to a position with fewer hours, the employee retains recall rights for the balance of the recall period. An employee who is recalled to a regular position will not have to serve a probationary period.

Employees shall not lose any previously accrued seniority as a result of layoff for a period of up to eighteen (18) months, provided that no benefits shall be accrued during the period of layoff. Employees who have separated from service as a result of layoff shall be recalled to the same salary step and PTO accrual rate at the time of layoff. Employees recalled from a lower classification shall be recalled to the same salary step, but shall continue to accrue PTO according to the schedule listed in Article 12.

Employees recalled from layoff shall be credited with a PTO bank equivalent to thirty-five percent (35%) of the PTO hours the employee had in their bank at the time of layoff.

#### 16.9 Re-employment

During the eighteen (18) month recall period, employees who have been laid off shall be sent announcements for positions being filled within the bargaining unit for which there are no laid off employees with recall rights.

Laid off employees will have the opportunity to apply during the three (3) day internal posting period.

A laid off employee who is re-employed in a regular position with the City in a classification other than from which the employee last held shall serve a probationary period of three (3) months. The probationary period may be extended up to an additional three (3) months. An employee who does not successfully complete the probationary period shall be eligible for recall to the classification held prior to layoff for the remaining portion of the eighteen (18) month recall period.

Employees who have separated from service as a result of layoff and who are re-employed during the recall period shall receive the same PTO accrual rate at the time of layoff and shall be credited with a PTO bank equivalent to thirty-five percent (35%) of the PTO hours the employee had in their bank at the time of layoff.

16.10 Unemployment Claims

The City will not contest the unemployment benefit claim of employees who are laid off under the provisions of the Article and apply for unemployment compensation benefits and indicate termination of employment due to bona fide layoff.

### ARTICLE 17 - LABOR / MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES

17.1 Purpose of Committee

The City and the Union agree that, from time to time, suggestions and issues of a general nature affecting the Union and the City need consideration.

The Labor/Management Committee shall have no collective bargaining authority and understandings reached by the parties will be supported by the parties, but shall not alter or modify any provisions of the collective bargaining agreement.

Labor/Management meetings shall be scheduled quarterly or as requested by either party to discuss matters of mutual concern. Such meetings will occur during normal business hours. Not less than five (5) business days before the meeting is to be held, each party will advise the other of matters to be placed on the agenda. Unless otherwise agreed, the agenda will be limited to such matters.

17.2 Composition of Committee

The Labor Management Committee meetings will include a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of five (5) representatives from each party, unless otherwise mutually agreed upon. Said committee shall attempt to meet for the purpose of discussing and facilitating the resolution of issues that may arise between the parties other than those for which another procedure is provided by law or other provisions of this Agreement.

17.3 Compensation

All meeting time spent by members of the joint Labor-Management Committee will be considered time worked if during duty hours and will be paid at the appropriate regular rate of pay.

#### 17.4 Joint Labor Council

From time to time the City Manager may convene a joint labor council to discuss matters of mutual concern. Labor representation shall consist of a maximum of two (2) representatives from each of the City's bargaining units.

The Joint Labor Council shall have no collective bargaining authority and understandings reached by the parties will be supported by the parties, but shall not alter or modify any provisions of the collective bargaining agreement.

# **ARTICLE 18 - SAFETY AND SECURITY**

#### 18.1 Safe Workplace

The City is responsible for maintaining a safe workplace. The City shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws applicable to the safety and health of its employees.

Employees who reasonably believe there is a workplace safety issue shall immediately contact a supervisor who shall make a determination with regard to safety. The supervisor's determination will be final and the employee will perform the work but may refer the matter to the safety committee or Human Resources.

All on-the-job injuries must be reported promptly (as soon as possible and within 24 hours) to the injured employee's supervisor. Employees must immediately notify their supervisor if they are unable to work because of a work-related injury or illness.

#### 18.2 Safety Plan

The City shall develop and follow written policies and procedures to address on-the-job safety in conformance with state and federal laws.

### 18.3 Drug Free Workplace

The Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988 for federal contractors and grant recipients requires that the City provide a drug free workplace. The City has established Personnel Policy and Procedure 500-10 Alcohol and Drug Free Work Environment, and employees are expected to be familiar with and comply with its requirements.

#### 18.4 Workplace Violence

Workplace violence, including threats of violence by or against a City employee, will not be tolerated and shall be immediately reported to the employee's direct supervisor, department director, or Human Resources, whether or not physical injury occurs.

# 18.5 Use of Electronic Monitoring Systems

The City uses electronic monitoring systems to provide for workplace safety and security and to increase operating efficiencies and performance. The following does not apply to any electronic monitoring performed as part of any criminal investigation pertaining to specific employees.

#### 18.5.1 Current Systems

Key Cards: The City issues employees key cards which provide access to specific facilities or areas of facilities. The data from this system is capable of showing a record of employee movement through the facility.

Video Cameras: The City currently uses video cameras, both motion-activated and continuous on a ninety (90) day recording loop in hallways and foyers of City facilities and other areas of the Municipal Court and Police Department and may add cameras in entry and exit areas adjacent to and within critical locations such as server rooms, and

other areas where high value items are located. Entrances to areas restricted to employees where video cameras are in use will be clearly marked. Cameras will not be used to record audio.

Global Positioning System (GPS) Technology: The City may install and use global positioning system (GPS) technology on City vehicles to enhance employee safety and the ability of supervisors in the field to allocate resources as needed, and specifically during snow and ice removal or other emergency operations. Additionally, there is the ability to conduct historical reviews of employee locations that can provide accuracy and transparency during complaint investigations. All City vehicles driven by ASCME members will be marked with signage indicating that GPS devises may be in use.

- **18.5.2 Notice of Additional Systems**: The union and employees shall be notified prior to implementation of any additional forms of electronic monitoring proposed by the City to be implemented on a routine and ongoing basis for the primary purpose of monitoring workplace safety and security or employee productivity and performance.
- **18.5.3 Access**: City supervisors and above have the authority to access systems to monitor and improve workplace safety and productivity, to respond to lawful public disclosure requests, and when necessary to use as a fact finding tool for a complaint investigation. Supervisors and above may request to review specific information for a specific incident when there is a specific articulable reason justifying such review. Such reviews for complaint investigation purposes require Human Resources Director approval.
- 18.5.4 Use of Data: Historic data may not be used to monitor or evaluate an employee's performance. Data acquired by electronic means may be used to evaluate workplace productivity or compliance with standards of conduct. The City will not use such electronic monitoring data as the catalyst or the primary basis to initiate an investigation and will not rely solely on such data to take disciplinary action. Disciplinary action is not the focus or intent of the use of these electronic monitoring systems, however the data may be used as a tool in a fact finding investigation into a complaint made against a City employee. In the event that data acquired by electronic means is used as the basis for any discipline, the employee who is the subject of such discipline and the Union shall have the right to obtain a copy of such data prior to the discipline being imposed.
- **18.5.5 Record Retention**: Records will be retained in accordance with State records retention law. If records requested identify a specific employee, the employee shall be provided notice prior to the release of such records in accordance with applicable law.

# **ARTICLE 19 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

#### 19.1 Grievance Defined

A "Grievance" means a claim or dispute by an employee, the Union, or City with respect to the interpretation or application of the provisions of this Agreement. Grievance time frames may be held in abeyance when the parties have mutually agreed. Mediation may be considered at any step in the grievance procedure.

### 19.2 Grievance Procedure

In the event of a grievance, the following procedure shall be used:

<u>Step 1</u> — An employee, the Union, or the City must present a grievance in writing within ten (10) working days of its alleged occurrence or within ten (10) days of when the grievant knew or should have known of its alleged occurrence, to the employee's designated supervisor, defined as the supervisor charged with conducting the employee's performance evaluation as of the date the grievance is submitted, with a copy to Human Resources and the affected employee. The grievance should be signed by the employee, Union, or City representative and must state the issue, the section of this Agreement violated, facts giving rise to the grievance, and the remedy sought. The designated supervisor shall consult with the Union to try to resolve the grievance and shall respond in writing within ten (10) working days after it is presented to him or her.

If a grievance is not presented within the time limits set forth above, it shall be considered waived.

<u>Step 2 -</u> If the employee, Union, or the City is not satisfied with the solution of the designated supervisor, the grievance, in writing, together with all pertinent materials may be presented to the Department Director in writing, with a copy to Human Resources, by the employee, Union, or City within ten (10) working days after receiving the designated supervisor's response. The department director shall consult with the Union to try to resolve the grievance and shall respond in writing within ten (10) working days after it is presented to him or her. If the department director is the designated supervisor as defined in Step 1 above, the written grievance may be immediately advanced to Step 3 below.

<u>Step 3 –</u> If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved by the department director and the Union, the City Manager or designee and the Union Staff Representative will meet for purposes of resolution of the grievance or to acknowledge that mutually agreeable resolution is not possible. If mutually agreeable resolution is not possible, within thirty (30) working days following the response and acknowledgement, the Union or City may refer the grievance to an arbitrator. Employee grievances must have approval of the Union officers prior to being referred to an arbitrator.

Step 4 - Arbitration - If agreement cannot be reached as to the arbitrator, the parties shall jointly request the Public Employment Relations Commission to provide a panel of seven (7) arbitrators from which the parties may select one (1). The representatives of the City and the Union shall alternately eliminate the name of one (1) person from the list until only one (1) name remains. The person whose name is not eliminated shall be the arbitrator. It shall be the function of the arbitrator to hold a hearing at which the parties may submit their cases concerning the grievance. The arbitrator shall render his or her decision based on the alleged violation of the provision(s) of this Agreement within thirty (30) days after such hearing. The decision shall be final and binding upon both parties to the agreements, provided the decision does not involve action by either party which is beyond its jurisdiction. The expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the City and the Union. Each party shall be responsible for compensating its own witnesses and representatives, including attorney's fees, not to include witnesses that are members of the bargaining unit. The arbitrator shall consider and decide upon only the specific issue(s) submitted in writing by the City and the Union and shall have no authority to make a decision on any other issue not so submitted.

19.3 Schedule of Meetings

Upon request, and without unnecessary delay, an employee representative's immediate supervisor or designee shall allow the employee representative during normal work hours, without loss of pay, reasonable time to:

- **19.3.1** Investigate any grievance or dispute so that same can be properly presented in accordance with the grievance procedure.
- **19.3.2** Attend meetings with City representatives when such meetings are necessary to adjust grievances or disputes. Meetings with designated personnel will be by appointment and held without delay when possible.
- **19.3.3** Confer with a staff representative of the Union and/or employees on City premises, at such time and places as may be authorized by the employee in advance of the intended meetings.

For the purposes of this Article and Article 4.3, obtaining coverage to ensure minimum staffing levels shall not be considered an unnecessary delay. The City shall not be obligated to provide coverage immediately if the use of overtime is the only means of providing that coverage. Any activity conducted pursuant to these sections shall be without disruption to the workplace.

### ARTICLE 20 - NO STRIKE / NO LOCKOUT

#### 20.1 No Strike / No Lockout

The Union agrees during the life of this Agreement that there shall be no strikes, slow-downs, or stoppage of work, or any interference with the efficient operation of the City. Any such action shall be subject to disciplinary action, including termination and replacement of the involved employees. The City shall not lockout any employee during the life of this Agreement.

### ARTICLE 21 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

#### 21.1 Management Rights and Responsibilities

The City agrees that the exercise of the above rights will be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement and RCW 41.56.

The City retains all rights of management, which, in addition to all duties and rights established by constitutional provision or statute, will include but not be limited to, the right to:

- Determine the City's functions, programs, organizational structure, and use of technology;
- b. Determine the City's budget and size of the City's workforce;
- c. Direct and supervise employees;
- d. Take all necessary actions to carry out the mission of the City and its institutions during emergencies as defined in RCW 38.52;
- e. Determine the City's mission and strategic plans;
- f. Develop, enforce, modify policies and procedures;
- Determine or consolidate the location of operations, offices, work sites, including permanently or temporarily moving operations in whole or part to other locations;

- h. Establish or modify the workweek, daily work shift, hours of work, and days off;
- Select, hire, assign, reassign, evaluate, retain, promote, demote, transfer, and lay off employees;
- j. Determine, prioritize, and assign work to be performed;
- k. Determine the need for and the method of scheduling, assigning, authorizing, and approving overtime;
- I. Determine training needs, method of training, and employees to be trained;
- m. Take disciplinary actions with just cause.

### **ARTICLE 22 - GENERAL PROVISIONS**

#### 22.1 Severability Clause

If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid by operation of law or any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance or enforcement of any provision shall be restrained by such tribunal pending final determination as to its validity, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be held invalid and shall remain in full force and effect. Upon the request of one party to the other, the parties shall enter into immediate collective bargaining negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement of such invalid provision.

Any and all prior agreements, practices, policies, rules, and regulations regarding terms and conditions of employment to the extent inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement are hereby superseded.

#### 22.2 Conflict with Laws

Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be in violation of any Federal or State law, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this agreement and the provision found to be in violation shall be immediately re-negotiated by the parties.

# <u>ARTICLE 23 – ENTIRE AGREEMENT</u>

#### 23.1 Duration Clause

The Agreement shall become effective on January 1, 2022, and remain in full force and effect through December 31, 2023.

If either party wishes to amend or extend the Agreement upon its expiration, notice of such intent must be given no later than ninety (90) calendar days prior to the expiration of the Agreement. The City will maintain the status quo with respect to the matters covered by this Agreement during negotiations for a new agreement, following the procedures and time lines of RCW 41.56.

#### 23.2 Entire Agreement

The agreement expressed herein in writing constitutes the entire agreement between the parties, and there shall be no amendments except in writing and with agreement of both parties.

# **SIGNATURES**

City of Lakewood Employees Local
Number 1938 of the
American Federation of State, County,
And Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO

Cathi Short, Local 1938 President

Pat Miller, Council 2 Staff Representative

ATTEST:

Busin Schumacher
Briana Schumacher, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Heidi Ann Wachter, City Attorney

eagyon and to vice of the other other of the other other

ATTA

LECTOR OF BUILDING

Meidi Ann Wacker

CATACOSOS FUELS OF MAL A

# APPENDIX A -SALARY SCHEDULE

Job Classification			-	-					% COLA)	O: - I	0	0	Co. Co. I	14
Exempt from FLSA overtim	Rai		Entry	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Master
Maintenance Assistant	1	hr	\$17.65	\$18.00	\$18.37	\$18.73	\$19.11	\$19.49	\$19.88	\$20.28	\$20.68	\$21.10	\$21.52	\$22.06
		mo	\$3,060	\$3,121	\$3,184	\$3,248	\$3,313	\$3,379	\$3,446	\$3,515	\$3,585	\$3,657 \$43,885	\$3,730 \$44,762	\$3,82
		yr	\$36,721	\$37,454	\$38,203	\$38,968	\$39,748	\$40,542	\$41,353	\$42,180	\$43,024	\$43,883	\$44,702	343,00
Court Clerk	10	l.	\$24.73	\$25.23	\$25.73	\$26.24	\$26.77	\$27.30	\$27.85	\$28.41	\$28.98	\$29.55	\$30.15	\$30.90
Court Clerk Office Assistant	18	hr	\$4,287	\$4,373	\$4,460	\$4,549	\$4,640	\$4,733	\$4,827	\$4,924	\$5,023	\$5,123	\$5,226	\$5,350
Office Assistant		уг	\$51,439	\$52,468	\$53,517	\$54,589	\$55,680	\$56,794	\$57,929	\$59,088	\$60,270	\$61,476	\$62,705	\$64,272
The second second second	5000	7.	451,155	552,100			410,050	Ministry)		ونخفو				
Permit Technician	24	hr	\$27.83	\$28.40	\$28.96	\$29.54	\$30.13	\$30.73	\$31.34	\$31.97	\$32.61	\$33.26	\$33.93	\$34.78
		mo	\$4,824	\$4,921	\$5,019	\$5,120	\$5,222	\$5,327	\$5,433	\$5,542	\$5,653	\$5,766	\$5,881	\$6,029
		yr	\$57,896	\$59,053	\$60,235	\$61,439	\$62,668	\$63,921	\$65,200	\$66,504	\$67,834	\$69,190	\$70,574	\$72,338
							M. Land						-	
Administrative Assistant	25	hr	\$28.38	\$28.95	\$29.53	\$30.12	\$30.72	\$31,33	\$31.96	\$32.60	\$33.25	\$33.92	\$34.59	\$35.4
Associate Engineering Tech	nician	mo	\$4,919	\$5,017	\$5,118	\$5,220	\$5,325	\$5,431	\$5,540	\$5,650	\$5,764	\$5,879	\$5,997	\$6,14
Animal Control Officer		yr	\$59,032	\$60,212	\$61,416	\$62,645	\$63,898	\$65,176	\$66,480	\$67,809	\$69,165	\$70,548	\$71,959	\$73,75
			***	****	444.11	***	201.04	021.00	022.62	622.07	622.02	624.62	\$35.31	\$36.1
Evidence Technician	26	hr	\$28.97	\$29.54	\$30.14	\$30.73	\$31.35	\$31.98 \$5,543	\$32.62 \$5,654	\$33.27 \$5,767	\$33.93 \$5,882	\$34.62 \$6,000	\$6,120	\$6,27
Maintenance Worker		mo	\$5,020 \$60,246	\$5,121 \$61,450	\$5,223 \$62,679	\$5,328 \$63,932	\$5,434 \$65,212	\$66,516	\$67,846	\$69,203	\$70,587	\$71,999	\$73,438	\$75,27
	100	yr	\$00,240	\$01,430	\$02,079	303,932	\$03,212	\$00,510	307,040	907,203	970,507	471,555	\$12,450	410,21
Lead Court Clerk	28	hr	\$30.12	\$30.72	\$31.34	\$31.96	\$32.60	\$33.25	\$33.92	\$34.59	\$35.29	\$36.00	\$36.71	\$37.6
Finance Technician	20	mo	\$5,220	\$5,325	\$5,432	\$5,540	\$5,650	\$5,764	\$5,879	\$5,997	\$6,117	\$6,239	\$6,364	\$6,52
Public Records & Legal Spe	ecialist	vr	\$62,647	\$63,899	\$65,178	\$66,482	\$67,811	\$69,167	\$70,550	\$71,961	\$73,401	\$74,869	\$76,366	\$78,27
. as it records to began op	Julia	J.	402,017	400,000	202,770	223,102	227,011	The state of			1.33391	(Selection)		
Assistant Planner	29	hr	\$30.72	\$31.34	\$31.97	\$32.61	\$33.26	\$33.92	\$34.61	\$35.30	\$36.01	\$36.72	\$37.45	\$38.3
		mo	\$5,326	\$5,433	\$5,541	\$5,651	\$5,765	\$5,880	\$5,998	\$6,118	\$6,241	\$6,365	\$6,492	\$6,65
		yr	\$63,912	\$65,190	\$66,494	\$67,824	\$69,180	\$70,564	\$71,975	\$73,415	\$74,883	\$76,381	\$77,908	\$79,85
					( Jan 1)				-					-
Court Compliance Officer	30	hr	\$31.35	\$31.97	\$32.61	\$33.27	\$33.93	\$34.61	\$35.30	\$36.01	\$36.72	\$37.46	\$38.21	\$39.1
Lead Maintenance Worker		mo	\$5,434	\$5,542	\$5,654	\$5,766	\$5,882	\$5,999	\$6,119	\$6,242	\$6,366	\$6,493	\$6,623	\$6,78
Permit Coordinator		yr	\$65,203	\$66,507	\$67,837	\$69,194	\$70,578	\$71,990	\$73,429	\$74,898	\$76,396	\$77,924	\$79,482	\$81,46
Recreation Coordinator								-						
	-			000 (1	412.24	422.02	624.63	025.20	#2C 01	627.70	027.46	620.20	620.07	\$39.9
Engineering Technician	31	hr	\$31.97	\$32.61	\$33.26	\$33.92	\$34.61	\$35.30	\$36.01	\$36.72 \$6,365	\$37.45 \$6,492	\$38.20 \$6,622	\$38.97 \$6,755	\$6,92
		mo	\$5,541 \$66,495	\$5,653 \$67,824	\$5,765 \$69,181	\$5,880 \$70,564	\$5,998 \$71,975	\$6,118 \$73,415	\$6,241 \$74,883	\$76,381	\$77,909	\$79,467	\$81,057	\$83,08
		yr	\$00,493	307,024	\$09,101	\$10,504	\$11,913	\$75,415	\$74,005	\$70,501	411,202	\$17,401	\$01,057	405,00
IT Specialist	32	hr	\$32.61	\$33.27	\$33.93	\$34.61	\$35.30	\$36.01	\$36.72	\$37.46	\$38.21	\$38.97	\$39.76	\$40.7
Lead Finance Technician		mo	\$5,653	\$5,766	\$5,882	\$5,999	\$6,119	\$6,242	\$6,366	\$6,493	\$6,623	\$6,756	\$6,891	\$7,06
		yr	\$67,837	\$69,194	\$70,578	\$71,990	\$73,429	\$74,898	\$76,396	\$77,924	\$79,482	\$81,072	\$82,694	\$84,76
				1800										
Code Enforcement Officer	33	hr	\$33.25	\$33.91	\$34.59	\$35.28	\$35.98	\$36.71	\$37.44	\$38.19	\$38.95	\$39.74	\$40.53	\$41.5
Compliance Inspector		mo	\$5,763	\$5,878	\$5,996	\$6,116	\$6,238	\$6,363	\$6,490	\$6,620	\$6,752	\$6,887	\$7,025	\$7,20
Construction Inspector		yr	\$69,155	\$70,537	\$71,948	\$73,387	\$74,855	\$76,352	\$77,878	\$79,436	\$81,026	\$82,646	\$84,299	\$86,40
Crime Analyst*														
Human Services Coord														
			***	22161	*****	*****	007.00	027.44	620.21	620.07	620.7/	640.55	641.26	642.2
Building Inspector	34	hr	\$33.93	\$34.61	\$35.30	\$36.01	\$36.72	\$37.46	\$38.21	\$38.97	\$39.76 \$6,890	\$40.55 \$7,028	\$41.36 \$7,169	\$42.3 \$7,34
		mo	\$5,881	\$5,999	\$6,119 \$73,426	\$6,242 \$74,894	\$6,366 \$76,392	\$6,493 \$77,920	\$6,623 \$79,478	\$6,756 \$81,068	\$82,689	\$84,343	\$86,030	\$88,18
		yr	\$70,574	\$71,986	\$73,420	\$74,894	\$70,392	\$11,920	\$19,410	301,000	\$02,009	\$04,343	\$60,030	\$00,10
Associate Planner	36	l he	\$35.28	\$35.98	\$36.71	\$37.44	\$38.19	\$38.95	\$39.74	\$40.53	\$41.34	\$42.16	\$43.01	\$44.0
Program Coordinator	30	hr	\$6,116	\$6,238	\$6,363	\$6,490	\$6,620	\$6,752	\$6,887	\$7,025	\$7,166	\$7,308	\$7,455	\$7,64
· rogram coordinator		yr	\$73,390	\$74,857	\$76,354	\$77,882	\$79,439	\$81,028	\$82,648	\$84,301	\$85,988	\$87,706	\$89,462	\$91,69
		J.	,	,027	District of the last of the la	,	,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		(0.000)	and the same	S. Charles	A STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR	
Finance Analyst *	38	hr	\$36.72	\$37.46	\$38.20	\$38.97	\$39.75	\$40.54	\$41.36	\$42.18	\$43.02	\$43.88	\$44.77	\$45.8
GIS Analyst		mo	\$6,365	\$6,493	\$6,622	\$6,755	\$6,890	\$7,028	\$7,168	\$7,312	\$7,458	\$7,607	\$7,760	\$7,9
Plans Examiner		yr	\$76,385	\$77,913	\$79,470	\$81,060	\$82,682	\$84,335	\$86,022	\$87,742	\$89,497	\$91,287	\$93,113	\$95,4
	1								1					100
Assistant Civil Engineer*	39	hr	\$37.45	\$38.20	\$38.97	\$39.75	\$40.54	\$41.36	\$42.18	\$43.02	\$43.88	\$44.77	\$45.66	\$46.8
Assistant Civil Engineer*		mo	\$6,492	\$6,622	\$6,755	\$6,889	\$7,027	\$7,168	\$7,312	\$7,457	\$7,607	\$7,758	\$7,914	\$8,11
Assistant Civil Engineer*		yr	\$77,908	\$79,467	\$81,056	\$82,677	\$84,331	\$86,018	\$87,737	\$89,492	\$91,282	\$93,107	\$94,970	\$97,34
Assistant Civil Engineer*					-	-	A			0111	0:00	0/0/1	040.45	600
		100		-			\$43.89	\$44.77	\$45.66	\$46.58 \$8,073	\$47.51	\$48.46	\$49.42	\$50.6
Assistant Civil Engineer*  Associate Civil Engineer*	43	hr	\$40.55	\$41.36	\$42.18	\$43.03		AP						\$8,78
	43	mo	\$7,028	\$7,168	\$7,312	\$7,458	\$7,607	\$7,760	\$7,915		\$8,235	\$8,399	\$8,567	
	43	_						\$7,760 \$93,116	\$7,915	\$96,878	\$8,235 \$98,815	\$8,399 \$100,792	\$102,808	\$105,37
Associate Civil Engineer*		mo yr	\$7,028 \$84,339	\$7,168 \$86,025	\$7,312 \$87,745	\$7,458 \$89,500	\$7,607 \$91,291	\$93,116	\$94,978	\$96,878	\$98,815	\$100,792	\$102,808	122
Associate Civil Engineer*	43	mo yr hr	\$7,028 \$84,339 \$42.20	\$7,168 \$86,025 \$43.05	\$7,312 \$87,745 \$43.91	\$7,458 \$89,500 \$44.78	\$7,607 \$91,291 \$45.68	\$93,116 \$46.59	\$94,978 \$47.52	\$96,878 \$48.47	\$98,815 \$49.44	\$100,792 \$50.44	\$102,808 \$51.44	\$52.7
Associate Civil Engineer*		mo yr hr mo	\$7,028 \$84,339 \$42.20 \$7,314	\$7,168 \$86,025 \$43.05 \$7,461	\$7,312 \$87,745 \$43.91 \$7,610	\$7,458 \$89,500 \$44.78 \$7,762	\$7,607 \$91,291 \$45.68 \$7,917	\$93,116 \$46.59 \$8,076	\$94,978 \$47.52 \$8,237	\$96,878 \$48.47 \$8,402	\$98,815 \$49.44 \$8,570	\$100,792 \$50.44 \$8,741	\$102,808 \$51.44 \$8,916	\$52.7 \$9,14
Associate Civil Engineer*		mo yr hr	\$7,028 \$84,339 \$42.20	\$7,168 \$86,025 \$43.05	\$7,312 \$87,745 \$43.91	\$7,458 \$89,500 \$44.78	\$7,607 \$91,291 \$45.68	\$93,116 \$46.59	\$94,978 \$47.52	\$96,878 \$48.47	\$98,815 \$49.44	\$100,792 \$50.44	\$102,808 \$51.44	\$52.7 \$9,14
Associate Civil Engineer*  IT Administrator *	45	mo yr hr mo yr	\$7,028 \$84,339 \$42.20 \$7,314 \$87,773	\$7,168 \$86,025 \$43.05 \$7,461 \$89,528	\$7,312 \$87,745 \$43.91 \$7,610 \$91,319	\$7,458 \$89,500 \$44.78 \$7,762 \$93,145	\$7,607 \$91,291 \$45.68 \$7,917 \$95,008	\$93,116 \$46.59 \$8,076 \$96,908	\$94,978 \$47.52 \$8,237 \$98,846	\$96,878 \$48.47 \$8,402 \$100,823	\$98,815 \$49.44 \$8,570 \$102,840	\$100,792 \$50.44 \$8,741 \$104,897	\$102,808 \$51.44 \$8,916 \$106,994	\$52.7 \$9,14 \$109,66
6 - O - T - T - T		hr mo yr	\$7,028 \$84,339 \$42,20 \$7,314 \$87,773	\$7,168 \$86,025 \$43.05 \$7,461 \$89,528	\$7,312 \$87,745 \$43.91 \$7,610 \$91,319 \$47.49	\$7,458 \$89,500 \$44.78 \$7,762 \$93,145	\$7,607 \$91,291 \$45.68 \$7,917 \$95,008	\$93,116 \$46.59 \$8,076 \$96,908	\$94,978 \$47.52 \$8,237 \$98,846 \$51.41	\$96,878 \$48.47 \$8,402 \$100,823 \$52.43	\$98,815 \$49.44 \$8,570 \$102,840 \$53.48	\$100,792 \$50.44 \$8,741 \$104,897 \$54.55	\$102,808 \$51.44 \$8,916 \$106,994 \$55.64	\$105,37 \$52.7 \$9,14 \$109,66 \$57.0 \$9,88
Associate Civil Engineer*  IT Administrator *	45	mo yr hr mo yr	\$7,028 \$84,339 \$42.20 \$7,314 \$87,773	\$7,168 \$86,025 \$43.05 \$7,461 \$89,528	\$7,312 \$87,745 \$43.91 \$7,610 \$91,319	\$7,458 \$89,500 \$44.78 \$7,762 \$93,145	\$7,607 \$91,291 \$45.68 \$7,917 \$95,008	\$93,116 \$46.59 \$8,076 \$96,908	\$94,978 \$47.52 \$8,237 \$98,846	\$96,878 \$48.47 \$8,402 \$100,823	\$98,815 \$49.44 \$8,570 \$102,840	\$100,792 \$50.44 \$8,741 \$104,897	\$102,808 \$51.44 \$8,916 \$106,994	\$52.7 \$9,14 \$109,66

Job Classification						-			% COLA)					¥
Exempt from FLSA overtim		ange	Entry	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9	Step 10	Master
Maintenance Assistant	1	hr	\$18.53	\$18.90	\$19.29	\$19.67	\$20.06	\$20.47	\$20.87	\$21.29	\$21.72			\$23.17
		mo yr	\$3,213 \$38,557	\$3,277	\$3,343 \$40,114				-					
		yı	\$30,337	\$39,321	\$40,114	\$40,910	\$41,735	\$42,569	\$43,421	\$44,289	\$45,175	\$46,079	\$47,000	\$48,175
Court Clerk	18	hr	\$25.97	\$26.49	\$27.01	\$27.56	\$28.11	\$28.67	\$29.25	\$29.83	\$30.43	\$31.03	\$31.66	\$32.44
Office Assistant		mo	\$4,501	\$4,592	\$4,683	\$4,777	\$4,872				\$5,274		_	\$5,624
		yr	\$54,011	\$55,092	\$56,193	\$57,318	\$58,464	\$59,633	\$60,825	\$62,043	\$63,283			
D							_							
Permit Technician	24	hr	\$29.22 \$5,065	\$29.82	\$30.41	\$31.02	\$31.63	\$32,27	\$32.91	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.92		\$36.52
		mo yr	\$60,791	\$5,167 \$62,006	\$5,270 \$63,246	\$5,376 \$64,511	\$5,483 \$65,802	\$5,593 \$67,117	\$5,705 \$68,460	\$5,819 \$69,829	\$5,935	\$6,055	\$6,175	\$6,330
		_ <u></u>	\$00,771	502,000	303,240	\$04,511	\$03,802	307,117	\$00,400	\$09,829	\$71,226	\$72,649	\$74,103	\$75,955
Administrative Assistant	25	hr	\$29.80	\$30.39	\$31.01	\$31.62	\$32.26	\$32.90	\$33,56	\$34.23	\$34.91	\$35.62	\$36.32	\$37.23
Associate Engineering Tech	nnician	mo	\$5,165	\$5,268	\$5,373	\$5,481	\$5,591	\$5,702	\$5,817	\$5,933	\$6,052	\$6,173	\$6,297	\$6,454
Animal Control Officer		yr	\$61,984	\$63,223	\$64,487	\$65,777	\$67,093	\$68,434	\$69,803	\$71,199	\$72,623	\$74,075	\$75,557	\$77,446
Politica Probability	26		020.40	001.00	201.44								1000	
Evidence Technician Maintenance Worker	26	hr	\$30.42 \$5,271	\$31.02 \$5,377	\$31.65	\$32.27	\$32.92	\$33.58	\$34.25	\$34.93	\$35.63	\$36.35	\$37.08	\$38.00
Wallichance Worker		mo yr	\$63,258	\$64,523	\$5,485 \$65,813	\$5,595 \$67,129	\$5,706 \$68,473	\$5,821 \$69,842	\$5,936 \$71,239	\$6,056 \$72,663	\$6,176	\$6,300	\$6,426	\$6,586
		91	403,230	904,525	\$03,613	\$07,129	\$00,473	\$09,042	\$11,239	\$72,003	\$74,116	\$75,599	\$77,110	\$79,039
Lead Court Clerk	28	hr	\$31.62	\$32.26	\$32.91	\$33.56	\$34.23	\$34.91	\$35.62	\$36.32	\$37.05	\$37.80	\$38.55	\$39.51
Finance Technician		mo	\$5,481	\$5,591	\$5,704	\$5,817	\$5,933	\$6,052	\$6,173	\$6,297	\$6,423	\$6,551	\$6,682	\$6,849
Public Records & Legal Spe	ecialist	yr	\$65,779	\$67,094	\$68,437	\$69,806	\$71,202	\$72,625	\$74,078	\$75,559	\$77,071	\$78,612	\$80,184	\$82,189
1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -						Maria I				2000				
Assistant Planner	29	hr	\$32.26	\$32.91	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.92	\$35.62	\$36.34	\$37.07	\$37.81	\$38.56	\$39.32	\$40.31
		mo	\$5,592 \$67,108	\$5,705 \$68,449	\$5,818 \$69,819	\$5,934	\$6,053	\$6,174	\$6,298	\$6,424	\$6,553	\$6,683	\$6,817	\$6,987
		yr	\$07,108	\$68,449	\$69,819	\$71,215	\$72,639	\$74,093	\$75,574	\$77,086	\$78,628	\$80,201	\$81,804	\$83,849
Court Compliance Officer	30	hr	\$32.92	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.93	\$35.63	\$36.34	\$37.07	\$37.81	\$38.56	\$39.34	\$40.12	\$41.13
Lead Maintenance Worker		mo	\$5,706	\$5,819	\$5,936	\$6,055	\$6,176	\$6,299	\$6,425	\$6,554	\$6,685	\$6,818	\$6,955	\$7,128
Permit Coordinator		yr	\$68,463	\$69,832	\$71,229	\$72,654	\$74,107	\$75,589	\$77,101	\$78,643	\$80,216	\$81,820	\$83,457	\$85,543
Recreation Coordinator												7		
							1-1							
Engineering Technician	31	hr	\$33.57	\$34.24	\$34.92	\$35.62	\$36.34	\$37.07	\$37.81	\$38.56	\$39.32	\$40.11	\$40.92	\$41.94
		mo	\$5,818	\$5,935	\$6,053	\$6,174	\$6,298	\$6,424	\$6,553	\$6,683	\$6,817	\$6,953	\$7,092	\$7,270
		yr	\$69,820	\$71,215	\$72,640	\$74,093	\$75,574	\$77,086	\$78,628	\$80,201	\$81,805	\$83,440	\$85,109	\$87,237
IT Specialist	32	hr	\$34.24	\$34.93	\$35.63	\$36.34	\$37.07	\$37.81	\$38.56	\$39.34	\$40.12	\$40.92	\$41.75	\$42.79
Lead Finance Technician		mo	\$5,935	\$6,055	\$6,176	\$6,299	\$6,425	\$6,554	\$6,685	\$6,818	\$6,955	\$7,094	\$7,236	\$7,417
		yr	\$71,229	\$72,654	\$74,107	\$75,589	\$77,101	\$78,643	\$80,216	\$81,820	\$83,457	\$85,126	\$86,828	\$88,999
Code Enforcement Officer	33	hr	\$34.91	\$35.61	\$36.32	\$37.04	\$37.78	\$38.55	\$39.31	\$40.10	\$40.90	\$41.72	\$42.56	\$43.62
Compliance Inspector		mo	\$6,051	\$6,171	\$6,295	\$6,422	\$6,550	\$6,681	\$6,814	\$6,951	\$7,090	\$7,231	\$7,376	\$7,560
Construction Inspector Crime Analyst*	1 1/2	yr	\$72,612	\$74,064	\$75,545	\$77,057	\$78,597	\$80,169	\$81,772	\$83,408	\$85,077	\$86,779	\$88,514	\$90,726
Human Services Coord														
1					0	1000	10000							
Building Inspector	34	hr	\$35.63	\$36.34	\$37.07	\$37.81	\$38.56	\$39.34	\$40.12	\$40.92	\$41.75	\$42.58	\$43.43	\$44.51
		mo	\$6,175	\$6,299	\$6,425	\$6,554	\$6,685	\$6,818	\$6,955	\$7,094	\$7,235	\$7,380	\$7,528	\$7,716
		yr	\$74,103	\$75,586	\$77,097	\$78,639	\$80,212	\$81,816	\$83,452	\$85,121	\$86,824	\$88,560	\$90,331	\$92,590
Associate Planner Program Coordinator	36	hr	\$37.04	\$37.78	\$38.55	\$39.31	\$40.10	\$40.90	\$41.72	\$42.56	\$43.40	\$44.27	\$45.16	\$46.29
riogram Coordinator		mo yr	\$6,422 \$77,059	\$6,550 \$78,600	\$6,681 \$80,172	\$6,814 \$81,776	\$6,951 \$83,411	\$7,090 \$85,079	\$7,231	\$7,376	\$7,524	\$7,674	\$7,828	\$8,024
		yı.	\$11,039	\$78,000	\$60,172	\$61,770	\$03,411	\$83,079	\$86,781	\$88,516	\$90,287	\$92,092	\$93,935	\$96,283
Finance Analyst *	38	hr	\$38.56	\$39.34	\$40.11	\$40.92	\$41.73	\$42.57	\$43.43	\$44.29	\$45.17	\$46.08	\$47.00	\$48.17
GIS Analyst	711	mo	\$6,683	\$6,818	\$6,953	\$7,092	\$7,235	\$7,380	\$7,527	\$7,677	\$7,831	\$7,988	\$8,148	\$8,334
Plans Examiner		yr	\$80,204	\$81,808	\$83,444	\$85,113	\$86,816	\$88,552	\$90,323	\$92,129	\$93,972	\$95,852	\$97,769	\$100,213
							No.							
Assistant Civil Engineer*	39	hr	\$39.32	\$40.11	\$40.92	\$41.73	\$42.57	\$43.43	\$44.29	\$45.17	\$46.08	\$47.00	\$47.94	\$49.14
		mo	\$6,817	\$6,953	\$7,092	\$7,234	\$7,378	\$7,527	\$7,677	\$7,830	\$7,988	\$8,146	\$8,310	\$8,517
1		yr	\$81,804	\$83,440	\$85,108	\$86,811	\$88,547	\$90,318	\$92,124	\$93,967	\$95,846	\$97,763	\$99,718	\$102,211
Associate Civil Engineer*	43	hr	\$42.58	\$43.43	\$44.29	\$45.19	\$46.09	\$47.00	\$47.94	\$48.90	\$49.89	\$50.88	\$51.89	\$53.20
		mo	\$7,380	\$7,527	\$7,677	\$7,831	\$7,988	\$8,148	\$8,311	\$8,477	\$8,647	\$8,819	\$8,995	\$9,220
		yr	\$88,555	\$90,326	\$92,132	\$93,975	\$95,855	\$97,772	\$99,727	\$101,722	\$103,756	\$105,832	\$107,948	\$110,647
TT Administrator *	45	hr	\$44.31	\$45.20	\$46.10	\$47.02	\$47.97	\$48.92	\$49.90	\$50.90	\$51.92	\$52.96	\$54.01	\$55.37
		mo	\$7,680	\$7,834	\$7,990	\$8,150	\$8,313	\$8,480	\$8,649	\$8,822	\$8,999	\$9,178	\$9,361	\$9,597
		yr	\$92,161	\$94,004	\$95,885	\$97,802	\$99,759	\$101,753	\$103,788	\$105,864	\$107,982	\$110,142	\$112,344	\$115,153
Civil Engineer *	49	hr	\$47.93	\$48.89	\$49.87	\$50.86	\$51.88	\$52.92	\$53.98	\$55.05	856.16	667.00	650.43	650.00
Lingineer	47	_	\$8,309	\$8,474	\$8,643	\$8,817	\$8,993	\$9,173	\$9,357	\$55.05 \$9,543	\$56.16 \$9,734	\$57.28 \$9,929	\$58.43 \$10,128	\$59.88 \$10,381
		IIIO .												
	1	mo yr	\$99,700	\$101,693	\$103,727	\$105,802	\$107,918	\$110,076	\$112,278	\$114,523	\$116,814	\$119,150	\$121,533	\$124,571

### **APPENDIX B - Clothing and Boots**

This list is strictly for purposes of identifying clothing allotment and boot allowances and is not intended for any other purpose.

# **Community and Economic Development**

# **Building Inspector**

Div	Qty	Item	Frequency	Notes
	1	Coveralls	Annually	
	1	Field Jacket	Every 3 years	City Logo
	1	Raingear	Every 3 years	
	1 ea	PPEs: Gloves, Hearing and Eye Protection, Safety Vest	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Hard Hat	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo
	1	Mud Boots	Replaced based on wear and tear	

# Rental Housing Safety Program Coordinator (and others assigned to perform inspections)

Div	Qty	Item	Frequency	Notes	
RHSP 1	1	Field Jacket	Every 3 years	City Logo	
	3	Shirts	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo	

# **Parks, Recreation and Community Services**

# Lead Maintenance Worker, Maintenance Worker, Maintenance Assistant

Div	Qty	Item	Frequency	Notes
All	1 ea	PPEs: Gloves, Hearing and Eye Protection, Safety Vest	Replaced based on wear and tear	
All	1 ea	Hard Hat, Baseball Cap	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo
		Pants, Shirts, Sweatshirts, Thermal Overalls, Field Jacket,		Specific items needed to ensure neat, clean, and standard dress code appearance, and ANSI approved class III yellov
All		Rain Pants	Replaced based on wear and tear	as required.

# **Public Works**

PW Inspector; Engineering Technician, Associate Engineering Technician

Div	Qty	Item	Frequency	Notes
All	1 ea	Field Jacket, Rain gear	Replaced based on wear and tear	ANSI Approved class III yellow
All	1 ea	PPEs: Gloves, Hearing and Eye Protection, Safety Vest	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Hard Hats, Mud Boots	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo
All	1	Mud Boots	Replaced based on wear and tear	

# **Police**

Animal Control Officer; Code Enforcement Officer; Evidence Custodian, Evidence Technician

Div	Qty	Item	Frequency	Notes
AC	1	Field Jacket	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo
AC	2	Jumpsuit	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo and employee name
AC	2	Mock Turtleneck	Replaced based on wear and tear	
AC	1	Duty Belt/suspenders	Replaced based on wear and tear	
AC	1	Bullet Proof Vest	Replaced per manufacturer instructions	
AC	1	Hat	Replaced based on wear and tear	
AC	1	Kevlar duty gloves	Replaced based on wear and tear	
CE	1	Coveralls	Annually	
CE	1	Field Jacket	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo
CE	1	Raingear	Every 3 years	
CE	1	Gloves, Hearing Protection	Replaced based on wear and tear	
CE	1	Eye Protection, Safety Vest	Replaced based on wear and tear	
CE	1	Hard Hats, Mud Boots	Replaced based on wear and tear	
EV	1	Rainproof winter jacket	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo
EV	4	Long/short sleeve polo shirts	Replaced based on wear and tear	City logo
EV	2	Cargo style pants	Replaced based on wear and tear	
EV	1	Mock Turtleneck	Replaced based on wear and tear	
EV	1	Military style belt	Replaced based on wear and tear	

# **Municipal Court**

# **Court Compliance Officer**

Div	Qty	Item	Frequency	Notes
1	Jumpsuit	Annually	City logo and employee's name	
	1	Duty belt	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Kevlar duty gloves	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Bullet Proof Vest	Replaced per manufacturer instructions	
	1	Baton, 21" Telescopic, Holder	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Flashlight	Replace based on wear and tear	Streamlight SL20X or equivalent
	1	Double Handcuff Case	Replaced based on wear and tear	or 2 single cases
	1	Handcuff with key hinged	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Handcuff with key chain	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Holder, Capstun	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Holster, Level II Glock	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Pouch, Magazine Vert/Hor	Replaced based on wear and tear	
	1	Tactical Handcuff Key, Large	Replaced based on wear and tear	

# **Steel Toe Boot Allowance**

\$125 Annually Code Enforcement Officer, Engineering Technician, Associate Engineering Technician

\$250 Annually Animal Control Officer, Bldg/RHSP/PW Inspector, Court Compliance Officer

Lead Maintenance Worker, Maintenance Worker, Maintenance Assistant

#### APPENDIX C - DEFINED CLASS SERIES

Class series are defined for purposes of administration of bumping rights pursuant to Article 16. Classes are listed in descending order within each class series, with the class requiring the greatest level of skills, knowledge and experience listed first.

Finance Analyst Lead Finance Technician Finance Technician

Civil Engineer
Associate Civil Engineer
Assistant Civil Engineer
Engineering Technician
Associate Engineering Technician

Lead Court Clerk Court Clerk

IT Administrator IT Specialist

Lead Maintenance Worker Maintenance Worker Maintenance Assistant

Associate Planner Assistant Planner

Public Records and Legal Specialist Administrative Assistant\* Office Assistant\*

Permit Coordinator Permit Technician

\*For the Administrative Assistant and Office Assistant classifications which have incumbents working in the Police Department and subject to Civil Service Rules, bumping rights shall apply only within or outside of the Police Department; there shall be no bumping from the Police Department to another City Department or vice versa.